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Witan Investment Trust plc is a global growth investment

trust which is invested in a prudently diversified range of

well managed large multinational companies, with some

smaller companies selected for their long-term growth

prospects.

Long history

Formed in 1909, and becoming publicly quoted in 

1924, the Company has always responded to the rapid

changes seen worldwide in the political, economic 

and social climate.

Performance record

£1,000 invested at 31 December 1983 would have increased

in value to £4,967 at 31 December 2003 (share price capital

only return). By comparison, the FTSE All-Share Index

increased 4.69 times and the Retail Prices Index increased

2.10 times over the same period†.

Progressive dividend record

The last ten years’ average annual dividend growth rate 

has been 3.65%, compared with an average annual inflation

rate of around 2.6% during the decade.

†Source: Datastream; the figure for the Witan share price return excludes dealing expenses.

*The total expense ratio is defined here as the total of the management fee and other administrative (including marketing) expenses as a percentage of the average of the

shareholders’ funds at the beginning and end of the year.

Clear performance marker

Our portfolio benchmark, against which performance is 

measured, is 60% FTSE All-Share Index and 40% FTSE World 

(ex UK) Index (capital change only).

Fair management charge

A total expense ratio of 0.59% for 2003*.

Independent board

Six of the seven non-executive directors are wholly independent

of the management company, as is the new Chief Executive

Officer.

Our track record
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Directors

H M Henderson*�

(Age 51) Appointed
a director in 1988,
Mr Henderson became
Chairman on 24 March
2003. He was formerly a
partner of Cazenove & Co.
and subsequently a senior
executive at Cazenove
Group plc, retiring in 2002.
He is also a director of
Cadogan Settled Estates
Limited.

C G Clarke FCA
(Age 59) Mr Clarke joined
the Board in 1992 and was
Managing Director 
from 1 January 1993 
to 30 June 2000. He has
over 30 years’ experience of
investment management
and was a senior executive
of Henderson Global
Investors, retiring fully in
March 2003. He is
Chairman of BWD
Securities PLC and a Trustee
of the Commonwealth War
Graves Endowment Fund.
He is also an independent
adviser to the trustees of a
large pension scheme and
an honorary adviser to
several charities.

R W C Colvill*
(Age 63) Mr Colvill was
appointed a director in
1994 and became
Chairman of the Audit and
Management Engagement
Committees in 2002. He
was formerly Finance
Director of Marks and
Spencer p.l.c.. He is
Chairman of the Money
Advice Trust, a charitable
company, and a non-
executive director of
Eldridge Pope & Co., p.l.c..

A W Jones*� MA, FREng,
FRAeS, FIEE, CIM
(Age 64) Mr Jones was
appointed a director in
1996 and became
Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
on its formation in
December 2003. He was
formerly Chief Executive of
BICC plc. He is Chairman
of Britax International
Limited, British
International Limited, Alert
Communications Limited
and The Manchester
Airport Group plc. He is a
former member of The
Financial Reporting
Council. 

R H McGrath*
(Age 57) Mr McGrath was
appointed a director in
1996. He was formerly
Chief Executive of
H. Young Holdings plc, 
a marketing company.

C S McVeigh III*�

(Age 61) Mr McVeigh was
appointed a director in
1998. He is Co-Chairman
of Citigroup European
Investment Bank and a
director of Savills plc. 

R A Bruce*
(Age 54) Mr Bruce was
appointed a director
in 2002. He is Group Credit
Risk Director at Barclays
PLC where he has
responsibility for asset
quality and credit risk
across the Barclays Group. 

J Horsburgh
(Age 48) Mr Horsburgh was
appointed a director and
Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 2 February
2004. He is responsible for
the overall management of
Witan. He will lead on
strategic asset allocation
and on the selection of
investment managers but
will report to the Board in
respect of all aspects of the
Company’s affairs,
including shareholder
relations, marketing and
administration. He has over
25 years’ experience of
investment management.
He was formerly with
Schroder Investment
Management Limited
where he became UK
Managing Director.

*Independent non-executive directors and, except Mr Henderson, members of the Audit and Management Engagement Committees which are chaired by Mr Colvill.

�Members of the Remuneration Committee which is chaired by Mr Jones.

Currently all the non-executive directors are members of the Nominations Committee under the chairmanship of Mr Henderson.
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Highlights

Financial Highlights 

31 December 31 December %
2003 2002 change
in pence in pence

Share price 303.0 261.5 15.9

Net asset value per ordinary share 358.2 307.6 16.4

Earnings per ordinary share 8.98 8.92 0.7

Dividends per ordinary share 8.30 8.10 2.5

Gearing* 8.1% 8.4%

*Defined here as the total market value of the investments less shareholders’ funds as a percentage of shareholders’ funds.

Performance

1 year 3 years 5 years
% return % return % return

Share price 15.9 (36.6) (17.4)

Net asset value per ordinary share 16.4 (31.3) (15.5)

Benchmark* 17.2 (27.0) (15.4)

*The benchmark comprises the FTSE All-Share Index and the FTSE World (ex UK) Index in the proportion 60:40 (capital
change only).

Dividend

A final dividend of 4.60p per share has been recommended, payable on 2 April 2004. 

The record date for the dividend will be 5 March 2004 and the ex-dividend date for the

dividend will be 3 March 2004.

Historical Record

Net asset Market price Net revenue Earnings Dividends 
value per Share price per ordinary after per ordinary per ordinary
ordinary share discount share in taxation share share

Year end in pence % pence in £’000 in pence in pence

31 December 1993 271.7 9.8 245.0 22,530 6.11 5.80

31 December 1994 251.7 8.6 230.0 25,031 6.65 6.10

31 December 1995 290.8 8.9 265.0 25,438 6.76 6.45

31 December 1996 314.5 15.3 266.5 26,764 7.11 6.65

31 December 1997 374.0 14.6 319.5 30,458 8.09 7.00

31 December 1998 423.9 13.4 367.0 30,317 8.06 7.40

31 December 1999 560.7 14.8 477.5 28,272 7.54 7.60

31 December 2000 521.5 8.3 478.0 32,541† 8.95† 7.75

31 December 2001 429.3 8.9 391.0 29,634 8.40 7.95

31 December 2002 307.6 15.0 261.5 31,445 8.92* 8.10

31 December 2003 358.2 15.4 303.0 31,362 8.98 8.30

†With effect from 1 January 2001, 75% of finance costs and management fees have been charged to capital. The 2000 figures
were restated to reflect this change of accounting policy.

*With effect from 1 January 2002, tax relief has been allocated as described in note 1(viii) on page 37.
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Chairman’s Statement

Background

When I took over as Chairman in March of last year, none of us

would have believed the magnitude of the increase that world

equity markets have since experienced. I am therefore delighted

to be reporting a real return on the year of significant

proportions. However, lest we forget the severity of the three

year bear market, it is worth recording that this recovery has

taken the net asset value per share back to the levels last seen 

in July 2002.

Various changes to the corporate governance requirements for

listed companies generally, and to the rules governing

investment companies in particular, were published in the

second half of 2003. The Board embraces the purpose of these

changes and our approach to their implementation is set out

later in this report.

Overview

This is the first time in the last four years that the overall return

from Witan and from world equity markets has been positive.

However, in contrast to the strong outperformance at the end of

the 1990s, this is the fourth year that we have underperformed

our benchmark. What is particularly disappointing is that our

gearing and our smaller company exposure, largely responsible

for the underperformance since March 2000, have not been

more positive this year. Stock selection has been difficult; we

have found it so in nearly all markets over the last year, as

signals from financial markets have been increasingly puzzling.

Volatility has collapsed as has the dollar, corporate scandals have

continued and the focus has switched from deflation to inflation

with a third quarter US GDP rise of 8%. It is against this

background that positive decisions have been made at the asset

allocation level, notably the selling of volatility in the early part

of the year, the increase in our weighting to the Far East and the

hedging of a small part of our US dollar exposure.

If this has been a twelve-month period when it was impossible

to own all that is moving upwards, it is worth highlighting the

significant relative value that has been added in our UK

mainstream portfolio over the longer term. We remain

convinced that quality of company is the key to long term

wealth but those companies that consistently grow earnings per

share were not in favour last year.

We remain a global equity fund with a policy of using gearing of

up to 10% when we believe equity markets are moving in an

upward direction. 

Performance Analysis 1 year 5 years
% %

Witan Capital Return +16.4 -15.5

Benchmark Return +17.2 -15.4
cc cc

Relative Performance -0.8 -0.1
cc cc

Attribution:

Stock Selection

UK Mainstream -0.6 +8.0

UK Smaller Companies – -7.1

North America -1.0 -3.4

Europe excluding the UK – +2.8

Japan -0.3 +1.1

Pacific excluding Japan -0.1 -0.2

Emerging Markets – +0.2
cc cc

-2.0 +1.4

Geographical Asset Allocation +0.1 +1.6

Net Gearing Effect +1.1 -3.1
cc cc

-0.8 -0.1
mm mm

Source: Henderson Global Investors Limited

Markets

Last year the UK was the worst performing major market in local

currency terms, despite a respectable GDP performance

compared with others in the developed world. As in

grandmother’s footsteps, the market will never be caught; she

has seen the implications of stealth taxes, understood the effects

of pension fund taxation and noticed the advent of untried

regulation and ever increasing layers of bureaucracy, all of which

constrain prospects for growth. The UK cannot go it alone. We

have traditionally allocated a high proportion (60%) of the

Harry Henderson
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portfolio to the UK, as compared to our competition. I make this

point as we have the responsibility to allocate your capital to

where the players are best advantaged, whether they be the

companies we invest in or the managers we choose to carry out

the investment. If the long-term competitive position of the UK

were to be damaged, we would feel compelled to reduce

gradually our exposure to this country.

The prospect of the first synchronised global recovery for nearly

twenty years has driven markets to unexpected levels; so what is

our approach to 2004? The trends in valuation, GDP growth and

policy affecting equity markets around the world would seem to

favour markets such as the Far East, including Japan. In the more

fully valued markets such as the US, currency considerations will

be an important determinant of stock selection. 

The investment environment is much improved. Your 

Board must encourage its managers to grasp opportunities 

but also to defend against dangers. We must not allow

benchmarks to prevent us looking for ways of reducing risk 

and improving rewards. 

Recent Announcement

I hope you are aware of the announcement that your Board

made in October last year; namely its intention to appoint for

the first time a Chief Executive directly employed by Witan

Investment Trust. This decision will enable your Board to

appoint investment managers alongside Henderson to manage

the Trust’s assets. We believe this to be in shareholders’ best

interests as no one fund management company can have at their

disposal top managers in all markets. 

Amidst the overwhelmingly positive reaction to this

announcement, the concerns that have been expressed to me are

about the effect this move will have on the Company’s overall

costs, particularly those of a fixed nature. We must avoid the UK

railway’s problem whereby another layer of management does

not ensure that the trains arrive any faster. Your Board regards its

actions more as the introduction of new rolling stock and

signalling equipment. The clear intention of this multi-manager

approach is to improve the overall investment returns of 

the Trust.

Management Fees

The management fee was due for renegotiation at the end of

2003. You will recall that we had last agreed to a £4 million fixed

fee and a performance fee capped at £1.5 million. This was

negotiated at a time of strongly rising asset values. There is no

doubt that in the early years this agreement worked to our

advantage but more latterly, with falling markets, to our

disadvantage. Taking the five year period covered by the

agreement to pay fixed rather than ad valorem fees, we have

paid approximately £6 million less than we would have done if

the old 0.3% three year rolling fee had been retained. 

It was necessary to agree an interim fee arrangement with

Henderson, given that the old fee rates were due for

renegotiation and that we are planning a reorganisation of the

investment management providers now the new Chief Executive

is in place. In summary, we have agreed to pay Henderson 0.3%

of assets under management per annum (calculated monthly in

arrears with effect from 1 January 2004) until such time as we

can determine the exact nature of the relationship. It is worth

recording that the Trust receives a number of other important

services from Henderson which are covered by this fee. A full

summary of the interim fee arrangements is set out on page 26

in the Directors’ Report.

Dividends

In accordance with our current policy we have again increased

the dividend. It is our intention, subject to shareholders’

approval, to pay a final dividend of 4.60 pence per ordinary

share, to make a total distribution for the year of 8.30 pence

(2002: 8.10 pence) out of earnings of 8.98 pence per share. We

propose this modest 2.47% increase against the background of

unchanged gross revenues. Looking to the future, the rate of

dividend increases is dependent on companies generally growing

their dividends. There are some signs that perceptions of the
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Chairman’s Statement
continued

importance of a disciplined dividend policy are rising, albeit

from a low point, in boardrooms both in the UK and the USA.

Board Changes

Charles Faringdon retired as your Chairman at the AGM in

March. I would like to put on record our appreciation for his

contribution to the Company over 27 years. As I said in the

interim statement, his wisdom and knowledge are much missed.

I would like to welcome Jim Horsburgh as your new Chief

Executive Officer, the first to be employed directly by the

Company. This is an important initiative which we believe offers

the Company greater flexibility with the twin objectives of

improving both the investment and the discount performance of

Witan. He comes with a great deal of experience across many

aspects of the investment world. The changes which he has been

charged to make will take some time to effect as we wish to

make haste slowly. We do not envisage that new managers for

any part of the portfolio will be in place until well into the

second half of the year. We plan to give shareholders more

information at the time of our AGM in March.

Annual General Meeting

Our AGM will be held this year at the British Museum, on

Monday 29 March 2004 at 6.45pm. Formal notice of the meeting

is set out on pages 50 and 51 and further details on the enclosed

invitation card. Those of you who are able to come will have an

opportunity to hear Jim Horsburgh as well as to participate in

the formal business. I look forward to the opportunity to meet

shareholders then.

H M Henderson 

4 February 2004
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Henderson Global Investors Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary

of Henderson Global Investors (Holdings) plc, currently manages

the entire investment portfolio of Witan; it also provides

marketing, company secretarial and administrative services. The

following senior managers and staff of Henderson have

responsibilities for Witan.

Henderson Global Investors (Holdings) plc was for most of 2003

a part of AMP Limited, an Australian financial services group. On

23 December 2003, following the demerger of AMP Limited,

Henderson Global Investors became the investment

management business of HHG PLC, a company quoted on the

London Stock Exchange.

James Robinson
Manager

Job Curtis
UK Mainstream and
Deputy Manager

Neil Hermon
UK Smaller Companies

Peter Kaye
North America
(since 1 November 2003)

John Botham
Continental Europe

Michael Wood-Martin
Japan

William Pitman
Far East

James Budden
Witan Marketing
Manager

Geoffrey Rice ACIS
is the appointed 
representative of the
corporate company
secretary, Henderson
Secretarial Services
Limited.

Management Team
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Manager’s Review

Market Review

After three down years, 2003 has turned out to be a positive year

for world equity markets with good gains being recorded across

the board. Early on in the year things looked very different with

share prices falling precipitously until 12th March when markets

eventually hit bottom. The catalyst for the turnaround was the

commencement of hostilities in Iraq. This, coupled with the

subsequent decision by the US Federal Reserve to cut interest

rates to 1% in June and to maintain an extremely accom-

modative interest rate policy thereafter, was enough to bring

about a major change in sentiment.

Over the last year, the biggest gains have come from smaller

companies and smaller markets together with those sectors most

exposed to an economic upswing. Smaller and medium size

companies have significantly outperformed their larger counterparts.

This development is not that surprising as smaller companies tend to

be more geared towards economic recovery and therefore are able to

produce bigger earnings upgrades. Similar considerations apply to

emerging markets where depressed markets that nobody wanted to

own in the downturn were eagerly sought once sentiment turned for

the better. Accordingly, markets like Thailand, Argentina and Turkey,

which were among the worst performing during 2002, saw meteoric

rises in 2003. There has also been a distinct investor preference for

poorer quality shares, with defensive household names under-

performing. Information technology and telecom stocks have been

in the forefront of the markets’ recovery.

The decline in the US dollar was also a major story for 2003. The

dollar is falling because the US is running a huge current account

deficit – likely to be close to $550 billion (5% of GDP) in 2003 –

and is finding it difficult to attract significant capital inflows to

finance it. Private investors are put off by relatively low interest

rates and bond yields, and by forecasts that the dollar will fall

further. Instead the deficit is being financed by central banks in

Asia – in particular in Japan and China. They are selling their own

currencies and buying US assets in order to prevent their currencies

rising against the dollar and so support their export industries.

In sterling terms the best performing region was Europe

excluding the UK, followed closely by the Far East and Japan. The

worst performing region in sterling terms was North America,

largely due to the weak performance of the US dollar.

Activity and Performance

The major change in our asset allocation during the year was the

increase in our Far East weighting from 1.8% to 4.4% which we

undertook in April/May. Our exposure to most other areas was

little changed. The rationale for the move into the Far East was

the fact that these markets looked fundamentally cheap

compared to their larger, more developed counterparts. By way of

example, in April the Asia Pacific region was selling on a historic

Price Earnings Ratio of 13.5 compared to around 19 for the USA,

notwithstanding the considerably better growth prospects for

Asia in the years ahead. The SARS crisis exacerbated the situation

by making the Asian markets even cheaper. As a result,

international investors were presented with something of a

golden opportunity to purchase stocks in Asia on a very

reasonable valuation. We were also attracted by the fact that Asia

Pacific contains a number of emerging markets which usually

tend to perform quite well early in the cycle.

Since September’s G7 communique from Dubai which appeared to

give the green light to further dollar weakness, we became

increasingly concerned about the possibility that the dollar’s decline

could accelerate. At the beginning of December we therefore decided

to institute a sterling hedge against around 20% of our US dollar

exposure. By the end of December these contracts were usefully in

profit and the dollar’s decline has continued into the New Year.

I should comment here on our relative performance over the year.

Although Witan’s net asset value per share increased by 16.4%, this

was slightly less than our benchmark which recorded an increase of

17.2% over the year. The level of our gearing (borrowing) averaged

around 7% in the period and therefore had a positive impact on

performance. Our asset allocation had a small positive impact so it

was stock selection where we came unstuck. The major negative here

continued to be North America where we again underperformed (see

management changes below). The UK mainstream portfolio, which

on average accounted for around 55% of our assets, also

underperformed; however this follows a three year period of very

James Robinson
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good relative performance from this area. On an encouraging note I

was very pleased to see the improvement in the UK smaller

companies performance where our new manager, Neil Hermon,

outperformed his benchmark in his first year. Although we did not

deliver on our stock selection overall, I think it is important to bear

in mind that Witan invests primarily in large companies – with a

large fund of this nature it is difficult to do otherwise. Talking

theoretically, if our UK benchmark had been the FTSE 100 Index

rather than the FTSE All-Share Index then we would have

outperformed over the period.

During the early part of the year when the UK options market

was pricing in very high levels of volatility, we decided to take

advantage of this by selling options against some of the

positions in our portfolio. In our view this was a way of

increasing overall returns and making our asset base work a bit

harder. The experiment was successful and we made some useful

profits. In May we disposed of the bulk of our investment in the

Thames River Absolute Return Fund, switching the proceeds into

“long only” investments in the US equity market. As it

happened, this turned out to be a propitious moment to

undertake such a switch as US share prices were fairly depressed

and have subsequently risen substantially. In August we also sold

our investment in the Henderson American Smaller Companies

OEIC. At that time, US smaller companies had outperformed

their larger counterparts by about 11% over the previous six

months and we thought we would capitalise on this; in the

event our timing was probably around three months too early.

Finally a quick word on share buy-backs. During the last month

or so of the year we increased the level of share buy-backs to take

advantage of recent increases in the level of our discount and to

enhance Witan’s net asset value. There is little doubt that, at a

discount of around 15% to net asset value, this must be one of

the best investments we can make on behalf of our shareholders.

Management

With effect from 1st November Ann Hall stepped down as the

manager of Witan’s US portfolio to be succeeded by Peter Kaye,

the head of Henderson’s US equity team. Prior to joining

Henderson in 2002, Peter was a US fund manager with both

Friends Ivory and Sime and Merrill Lynch Investment Managers.

He has been involved with the US equity market since 1996 and

has achieved a good performance record over that period. We are

confident that he will achieve an improvement in our US

performance in 2004 and beyond.

Since taking over the portfolio Peter has made some changes to

it and I would encourage you to read his portfolio review on

page 18 which describes his approach to investment and some of

the changes he has made.

Outlook

Companies are currently experiencing a very pronounced

earnings recovery due largely to the cyclical upturn in the global

economy. Our exposure to both UK equities and to international

equities is overweight as compared with our (ungeared)

benchmark. The UK offers sound value at current levels but the

same cannot be said for the US equity market which continues

to look relatively expensive. Our biggest overweight is the Far

East where valuations still seem very reasonable compared to

most other areas, particularly the US. We are also overweight in

Europe and Japan. Continental European markets suffered very

badly in the last year of the bear market and, due to their greater

cyclicality, have greater upside, while Japanese equities

historically outperform during global economic recoveries as

Japanese profits are extremely geared to the economic cycle.

So what are the risks for 2004? The biggest risk may be the

market’s complacency over US interest rates. Money markets are

currently anticipating rises in US and European interest rates of

0.5% to 1.0% in 2004 but, if the US economy continues to

surprise by its strength, the Federal Reserve may have to raise

interest rates further. If the current descent of the dollar turns

into a rout then there is the added danger that US interest rates

will have to rise to protect the currency. Although a move back

to 4% US interest rates would barely return policy to neutral, it

would be a considerable shock to financial markets. This is not

our central expectation but it is our biggest concern.

Conclusion

Nine months ago equity markets were cheap, with the yield on

UK equities briefly exceeding that available on UK government

bonds. Following the rally of the last nine months equities are

now probably at or around fair value. However, with economic

recovery now increasingly evident and risk preferences rising,

equities should continue to prove more rewarding than either

fixed interest securities or cash.

J P Robinson

4 February 2004
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Performance Attribution Analysis

Performance Attribution: 12 months to 31 December 2003 – Computed on a capital return basis relative to the customised

benchmark (60% FTSE All-Share Index and 40% FTSE World (ex UK) Index, excluding income). 

Source: Henderson Global Investors Limited

Average Average Performance Contribution from:
Benchmark Witan Asset Stock
allocation allocation Witan Benchmark allocation selection

Equity Markets % % % % % %

UK Mainstream 60.0 58.9 14.6 16.0 – (0.6)

UK Smaller Companies – 2.6 38.0 36.8 0.4 –

North America 25.6 24.3 9.6 14.3 (0.1) (1.0)

North America – foreign exchange hedge – – 6.7 – 0.3 –

Europe excluding UK 7.9 9.9 26.0 26.2 0.1 –

Japan 3.6 5.8 15.4 21.6 (0.2) (0.3)

Pacific excluding Japan 2.4 4.1 22.6 24.8 0.2 (0.1)

Emerging Markets 0.5 – – 52.3 (0.1) –

Unquoted – 1.6 (15.7) – (0.5) –

Net gearing – (7.2) – – 1.1 –

TOTAL 100.0 100.0 16.4 17.2 1.2 (2.0)

Portfolio Sector Analysis against Benchmark
at 31 December 2003

ECONOMIC Witan Benchmark Difference
SECTOR BIASES % % %

Resources 11.0 11.9 -0.9

Basic Industries 5.3 4.0 +1.3

General Industrials 5.3 5.0 +0.3

Cyclical Consumer Goods 2.5 1.8 +0.7

Non-Cyclical Consumer Goods 15.7 18.2 -2.5

Cyclical Services 15.2 13.5 +1.7

Non-Cyclical Services 8.7 9.2 -0.5

Utilities 3.7 3.5 +0.2

Information Technology 7.3 5.7 +1.6

Financials 25.3 27.2 -1.9

TOTAL 100.0 100.0

This analysis is included to show shareholders in which economic sectors investment is based for Witan and for the benchmark.
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Twenty Largest Investments

The 20 largest investments at 31 December 2003 were as follows:

Market value
of holding % of
£ million portfolio Country Description

1 HSBC 52.0 3.90 UK/Hong Kong banking

2 Vodafone 48.5 3.64 UK telecommunications

3 BP 46.4 3.48 UK oil & gas

4 GlaxoSmithKline 41.6 3.12 UK pharmaceuticals

5 Shell Transport & Trading 38.2 2.87 UK oil & gas

6 Barclays 28.9 2.17 UK banking

7 Royal Bank of Scotland 28.8 2.16 UK banking

8 AstraZeneca 20.1 1.51 UK pharmaceuticals

9 HBOS 18.8 1.41 UK banking

10 British American Tobacco 18.5 1.39 UK tobacco

11 Diageo 14.7 1.10 UK alcoholic beverages

12 Lloyds TSB 13.4 1.01 UK banking

13 Henderson Strata 11.9 0.90 UK investment trust

14 Tesco 11.6 0.87 UK food retailing

15 Microsoft 11.2 0.84 USA software & computer services

16 Pfizer 10.8 0.81 USA pharmaceuticals

17 Rio Tinto 10.0 0.75 UK mining

18 BT 9.4 0.71 UK telecommunications

19 Unilever 9.4 0.70 UK food producers & processors

20 General Electric 9.3 0.70 USA diversified industries

These investments total £453.5 million and represent 34.0% of the total investment portfolio at 31 December 2003.

United North Continental Far
Kingdom America Europe Japan East Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investments at 31 December 2002* 699,228 260,822 103,469 72,850 34,220 1,170,589

Net purchases/(sales) (31,939) 4,447 (9,563) (2,868) 21,247 (18,676)

Net capital gains over the year† 119,392 12,526 28,477 6,990 13,409 180,794
cc cc cc cc cc cc

Investments at 31 December 2003* 786,681 277,795 122,383 76,972 68,876 1,332,707
mm mm mm mm mm mm

*including unquoted investments.
†comprising both realised and unrealised gains.

Changes in Investments
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United North Continental Total Total
Kingdom America Europe Japan Far East 2003 2002

% % % % % % %

Resources Mining 1.7 0.3 – – 0.4 2.4 2.3
Oil & Gas 6.7 0.9 0.8 – 0.2 8.6 10.5

c c c c c c c

8.4 1.2 0.8 – 0.6 11.0 12.8
c c c c c c c

Basic Chemicals 0.9 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.3 2.1 2.0
Industries Construction & Building Materials 2.2 – 0.3 – 0.3 2.8 1.7

Forestry & Paper – 0.2 – – – 0.2 0.2
Steel & Other Metals – 0.2 – – – 0.2 –

c c c c c c c

3.1 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.6 5.3 3.9
c c c c c c c

General Aerospace & Defence 1.1 0.5 – – – 1.6 1.5
Industrials Diversified Industries – 1.4 – – – 1.4 1.2

Electronic and Electrical Equipment 0.1 – 0.3 1.4 – 1.8 2.1
Engineering & Machinery 0.4 – 0.1 – – 0.5 0.7

c c c c c c c

1.6 1.9 0.4 1.4 – 5.3 5.5
c c c c c c c

Cyclical Automobiles 0.3 – 0.5 0.2 – 1.0 1.2
Consumer Goods Household Goods & Textiles 0.8 – 0.7 – – 1.5 –

c c c c c c c

1.1 – 1.2 0.2 – 2.5 1.2
c c c c c c c

Non-Cyclical Beverages 1.3 0.8 – 0.3 – 2.4 2.7
Consumer Goods Food Producers & Processors 1.2 – – – – 1.2 1.7

Health 0.7 0.9 0.1 – – 1.7 2.5
Packaging – – – – – – 0.4
Personal Care & House Products – 0.5 0.1 – – 0.6 1.7
Pharmaceuticals 4.6 2.2 0.7 0.2 – 7.7 7.7
Tobacco 1.7 0.2 0.2 – – 2.1 2.3

c c c c c c c

9.5 4.6 1.1 0.5 – 15.7 19.0
c c c c c c c

Cyclical Services Distributors – 0.2 – – – 0.2 0.6
General Retailers 2.3 0.7 0.1 0.6 – 3.7 4.3
Leisure, Entertainment & Hotels 1.4 0.4 – – – 1.8 1.6
Media & Photography 3.2 1.4 0.3 0.6 – 5.5 4.8
Restaurants, Pubs & Breweries – – – – – – 0.5
Support Services 1.5 – 0.2 0.2 – 1.9 1.9
Transport 1.0 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.3 2.1 1.7

c c c c c c c

9.4 3.1 0.8 1.6 0.3 15.2 15.4
c c c c c c c

Non-Cyclical Food & Drug Retailers 1.2 0.2 – – – 1.4 1.1
Services Telecommunication Services 4.3 0.5 1.2 0.8 0.5 7.3 7.5

c c c c c c c

5.5 0.7 1.2 0.8 0.5 8.7 8.6
c c c c c c c

Utilities Electricity 1.5 – 0.1 – – 1.6 2.6
Gas Distribution 0.3 – – – – 0.3 1.1
Water 1.8 – – – – 1.8 0.8

c c c c c c c

3.6 – 0.1 – – 3.7 4.5
c c c c c c c

Information Information Technology Hardware – 3.4 0.1 – 1.1 4.6 2.2
Technology Software & Computer Services 0.3 2.1 0.3 – – 2.7 2.2

c c c c c c c

0.3 5.5 0.4 – 1.1 7.3 4.4
c c c c c c c

Financials Banks 11.0 1.3 1.8 0.4 1.6 16.1 15.6
Insurance 0.4 0.7 0.7 – 0.1 1.9 2.3
Investment Companies 1.6 – – – – 1.6 2.1
Life Assurance 1.7 – – – – 1.7 1.9
Real Estate 1.8 – – – 0.2 2.0 1.4
Speciality & Other Finance 0.6 1.1 – 0.3 – 2.0 1.4

c c c c c c c

17.1 3.1 2.5 0.7 1.9 25.3 24.7
c c c c c c c

Totals 2003 59.6 20.7 9.1 5.6 5.0 100.0
m m m m m m

Totals 2002 60.2 21.5 8.9 6.3 3.1 100.0

Classification of Investments
at 31 December 2003

Notes:

1. Unquoted investments and options are not included in this classification.

2. There were no fixed interest holdings or convertible holdings (2002: none).



13

United Kingdom,
mainstream portfolio review

Market Review

It is pleasing to be able to report a much better year for UK

equities with the FTSE All-Share Index rising by 16.6%. This has

been achieved after the previous three years of negative returns.

2003 started with share prices declining against a background of

nervousness in the build-up to the start of the Iraq war and also

lack of confidence in future corporate profitability. In January,

the Financial Services Authority relaxed its solvency ratios so as

to prevent a downward spiral of equity selling by UK life

assurers whose financial condition had been weakened by the

long bear market.

In response to the lack of inflationary pressure, the Bank of

England, at the beginning of February, cut interest rates from

4% to 3.75%. It was not until 12th March that the nadir of the

UK equity market was reached. At this point the dividend yield

on UK equities was greater than the ten year British government

bond yield for the first time since 1959.

The catalyst for the change in direction of the equity market

was the start of the Iraq war. During the remainder of the year,

the UK equity market trended upwards helped by news of

improving prospects for growth in the UK and US economies.

Companies whose profitability is particularly sensitive to

economic growth were strong performers as were, in general,

medium and small sized companies.

The market’s recovery was further stimulated in July by the Bank

of England cutting interest rates to 31/2%, the lowest level in the

UK since the 1940s. In December, interest rates were moved

back to 3.75% as fears of deflation receded and the UK

economic recovery became more established.

Portfolio Activity

HSBC, the international bank, ended the year as the portfolio’s

largest holding, a rise from fifth place at the end of 2002. The

holding was added to during the year as HSBC offered

significant recovery potential in certain markets such as Hong

Kong and its purchase of Household, the large US consumer

finance operation, seemed well-timed.

UK mainstream portfolio (£737m) 
by sector 2003 2002

% %

Financials 30 25

Non-Cyclical 

Consumer Goods 17 21

Resources 15 17

Cyclical Services 14 14

Non-Cyclical Services 10 9

Basic Industries 5 5

Utilities 4 7

Cyclical Consumer Goods 2 –

General Industrials 2 2

Information Technology 1 –
c c

100 100
m m

Job Curtis

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value mainstream portfolio

49,168 HSBC banking 6.67

48,475 Vodafone telecommunications 6.58

46,433 BP oil & gas 6.30

41,600 GlaxoSmithKline pharmaceuticals 5.65

38,226 Shell Transport & Trading oil & gas 5.19

28,899 Barclays banking 3.92

28,805 Royal Bank of Scotland banking 3.91

20,100 AstraZeneca pharmaceuticals 2.73

18,811 HBOS banking 2.55

18,480 British American Tobacco tobacco 2.51

14,700 Diageo alcoholic beverages 2.00

13,440 Lloyds TSB banking 1.82

11,934 Henderson Strata investment trust 1.62

11,599 Tesco food retailing 1.57

10,030 Rio Tinto mining 1.36

9,413 BT telecommunications 1.28

9,374 Unilever food producers & processors 1.27

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value mainstream portfolio

8,848 Reckitt Benckiser household products 1.20

8,737 Prudential life assurance 1.19

8,705 National Grid Transco utility 1.18

8,432 Land Securities real estate 1.14

7,900 Wolseley building materials 1.07

7,832 Aviva life assurance 1.06

7,273 Smith & Nephew healthcare 0.99

7,257 British Sky Broadcasting media 0.99

7,242 Anglo American mining 0.98

6,636 Caledonia Investments investment trust 0.90

6,589 Slough Estates real estate 0.89

6,542 Reed Elsevier media 0.89

6,270 Compass Group support services 0.85

6,219 Boots retailing 0.84

6,101 Legal & General life assurance 0.83

6,057 Scottish & Southern Energy utility 0.82

5,585 Rank leisure 0.76

United Kingdom investments (mainstream)
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United Kingdom,
mainstream portfolio review

continued

The second largest holding at the end of 2003 was Vodafone,

which rose from fourth place. The company’s shares performed

well as revenue growth from mobile telecommunication services

proved to be greater than expected, especially in Europe. The

holding in Vodafone was therefore added to but we remain

disappointed at the company’s low dividend pay out ratio.

The oil companies BP and Shell fell over the year from largest and

third largest holdings to third and fifth largest respectively. These

companies’ shares suffered from investor perception that the oil

price is likely to decline as Iraq’s oil returns to world markets.

Although reductions were made in the portfolio’s holdings in BP

and Shell, core holdings were maintained as both companies are

well placed to benefit from increased demand for oil and related

products as the global economy grows. A key driving force for

long-term growth for these companies is their ability to grow oil

and gas reserves from exploration in frontier regions.

GlaxoSmithKline slipped from second to fourth largest

holding. Although the company suffered from the loss of

patent protection for three of its leading medicines, it also

revealed a strong long-term pipeline of new medicines in

research and development. The portfolio’s holding in

GlaxoSmithKline was reduced during the year but a core

holding was maintained given the company’s strong cash flow

and long-term strengths.

Turning to acquisitions of new holdings, British Land, the

property company that owns the Broadgate office estate in the

City of London and the giant Meadowhall shopping centre

outside Sheffield, was purchased on a significant discount to its

net asset value.

In the Media sector, two new holdings were purchased. Yell

should produce strong cash flow from Yellow Pages in the UK

and has growth potential for its telephone directories business in

the USA. WPP, one of the world’s leading advertising and

communications services groups, should benefit from an upturn

in advertising rates.

Two new holdings were also purchased in the Financial sector.

Jardine Lloyd Thompson is an insurance broker with an

excellent track record and good growth prospects given the

demand for its skills as an intermediary in wholesale insurance

markets. Man Group is enjoying strong demand for the hedge

funds that it manages which earn much higher fees than

conventional funds. 

In the Support Services sector, a holding was purchased in Serco,

which manages facilities for governments and private sector

companies. It is a beneficiary of the growth in PFI contracts

awarded by the UK government.

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value mainstream portfolio

5,288 Smiths aerospace 0.72

5,257 Marks & Spencer retailing 0.71

5,162 BG oil & gas 0.70

5,121 BOC chemicals 0.70

5,074 Standard Chartered banking 0.69

5,054 Next retailing 0.69

4,985 United Utilities utility 0.68

4,880 BHP Billiton mining 0.66

4,748 Man Group speciality and other finance 0.64

4,653 Scottish Power utility 0.63

4,620 Imperial Tobacco  tobacco 0.63

4,520 Trinity Mirror                     media 0.61

4,431 Kingfisher retailing 0.60

4,270 Granada media 0.58

4,103 Cadbury Schweppes food producers & processors 0.56

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value mainstream portfolio

4,088 British Land real estate 0.56

4,005 GKN automobiles 0.54

3,970 BAA transport 0.54

3,909 J Sainsbury food retailing 0.53

3,798 Centrica utility 0.52

3,693 Exel transport 0.50

3,692 Hanson building materials 0.50

3,666 National Express transport 0.50

3,660 Yell media 0.50

3,545 Rolls-Royce aerospace 0.48

3,470 BPB building materials 0.47

3,434 Johnson Matthey chemicals 0.47

3,413 Liberty International real estate 0.46

3,128 Dixons retailing 0.42

3,113 BAE Systems aerospace 0.42

United Kingdom investments (mainstream)
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The broadly based engineering company IMI was purchased given

its recovery potential as demand picks up and its increased focus

on higher margin businesses. IMI replaced FKI which was sold. 

In the Transport sector, a holding was purchased in P & O which

is enjoying buoyant operating conditions for its ports in the Far

East as trade with China grows strongly. P & O replaced Mersey

Docks which was sold.

Poorly timed sales were made of Amersham, which was

subsequently bid for by General Electric, and ICI. However, the

proceeds were available for other opportunities, including

adding to existing holdings, such as Rolls-Royce, which

experienced a strong share price recovery.

There were two demergers affecting the portfolio during the year.

Kingfisher demerged its electrical and furniture business Kesa

which was added to, given the undemanding valuation. Six

Continents split into Intercontinental Hotels and a pub

business Mitchells & Butlers.

Outlook

Against a background of improving world economic growth and

an expansive UK monetary and fiscal policy, prospects for UK

economic growth seem to be good. Inflationary pressures appear

to be muted and therefore interest rate rises are likely to be

relatively modest. In our view, the main risks are the level of

consumer indebtedness and currency volatility.

In terms of size of holdings, the largest sector is Banks which

accounts for almost 20% of the UK mainstream portfolio.

Valuations for the banks held in the portfolio are attractive given

the prospects of continuing loan growth and a low level of bad

debts. Competition means there is some pressure on margins but

this is generally modest.

The sector where the portfolio has the greatest exposure relative

to the FTSE All-Share is Real Estate where the discounts to net

asset value seem to be excessive, given the likely change to a

more tax efficient REIT status that the government has recently

indicated, and yields for many types of direct property remain

attractive. There is also above average exposure towards the

Chemicals, Construction & Building Materials and Media sectors

which will benefit from improving economic growth. By

contrast, the portfolio has below average exposure to

Telecommunications, where regulatory and competitive

pressures remain a concern, and to Pharmaceuticals and Mining

whose reported earnings are adversely affected by the weakness

in the US dollar. 

In conclusion, we believe that the UK equity market’s valuation

is reasonable given the overall prospects for corporate profits

growth, although the weakness in the US dollar is a concern for

some companies. Witan’s UK mainstream portfolio is positioned

to participate in the growth of profits and dividends from UK

companies where we consider that it has not yet been fairly

reflected in their share prices.

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value mainstream portfolio

3,096 Serco support services 0.42

3,094 GUS retailing 0.42

3,049 Kelda utility 0.41

3,000 British Vita chemicals 0.41

3,000 EMAP media 0.41

2,922 Hilton hotels 0.40

2,855 Reuters media 0.39

2,812 Sage software 0.38

2,799 George Wimpey house builder 0.38

2,743 WPP media 0.37

2,690 Intercontinental Hotels hotels 0.37

2,655 Abbey National banking 0.36

2,648 Scottish & Newcastle alcoholic beverages 0.36

2,600 Amec construction 0.35

2,595 Alliance Unichem healthcare 0.35

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value mainstream portfolio

2,562 William Hill leisure 0.35

2,374 Jardine Lloyd Thompson insurance 0.32

2,360 Pantheon International Participations investment trust 0.32

2,336 Associated British Foods food producers & processors 0.32

2,200 Berkeley house builder 0.30

2,134 Bunzl support services 0.29

2,126 Bodycote International engineering 0.29

2,070 P & O transport 0.28

2,058 Kesa Electricals retailing 0.28

2,024 IMI engineering 0.28

1,765 Royal & Sun Alliance insurance 0.24

1,754 Mitchells & Butlers leisure 0.24
cc cc

736,773 100.00
mm mm

United Kingdom investments (mainstream)
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Neil Hermon

United Kingdom,
smaller companies portfolio review

Market Review

2003 has been a vintage year for smaller companies with the

FTSE SmallCap (excluding investment companies) Index

producing a capital return of 36.8%, compared to the FTSE All-

Share Index which rose 16.6%. This dramatic rise was driven by

four principal reasons. 

First, after a three year bear market smaller companies had

become very undervalued compared to their larger counterparts.

As investor confidence returned this undervaluation became

increasingly anomalous and small and medium sized companies

rallied strongly.

Secondly, 2003 saw an increased level of bids for UK smaller

companies. A lot of this activity has come from venture

capitalists who saw the valuation opportunity in the smaller

quoted corporate sector. This has had the benefit of injecting

cash back into the market for reinvestment and the underpinning

of peer group valuations. Our portfolio benefited from cash

takeovers for Pizza Express and Fitness First.

Thirdly, investors have increasingly looked to gain exposure to

improving global economic conditions. The FTSE SmallCap Index

has high exposure to sectors such as basic industries, general

industrials and cyclical services, all areas that have high economic

sensitivity. This is in contrast to the FTSE 100 Index which is

dominated by pharmaceutical, oil, bank and telecom stocks.

Finally, as economic conditions have improved so have the

earnings prospects for smaller companies. As investor confidence in

earnings forecasts and earnings growth has risen, so the multiple

they are willing to pay for those earnings has likewise increased.

Portfolio Activity

The portfolio again saw significant change in 2003, with the

process of restructuring commenced in 2002 carried through into

the year under review. Of the 20 investments in the portfolio at

the start of the year, 14 remained at the year-end. In total the

portfolio consisted of 30 investments at the year-end. This

broadening of the portfolio allowed further rebalancing to occur,

with diversification across a wide range of sectors. This diversity

is a reflection of a bottom-up approach across the whole market.

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value smaller companies portfolio

2,571 W S Atkins consulting engineer 6.53

2,513 Balfour Beatty    international contractor 6.37

2,288 Taylor Nelson Sofres market information 5.80

2,244 Informa business publisher 5.69

2,063 Meggitt aerospace supplier 5.23

1,854 NHP nursery home owner and operator 4.70

1,853 Domino Printing inkjet printing 4.70

1,708 GWR local radio 4.33

1,630 Enodis catering equipment 4.13

1,622 Chrysalis UK radio 4.11

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value smaller companies portfolio

1,621 Grainger Trust residential property 4.11

1,560 Westbury house builder 3.96

1,526 Intermediate Capital mezzanine finance 3.87

1,473 WSP consulting engineer 3.73

1,414 Interserve support services 3.59

1,390 Bellway house builder 3.52

1,203 Games Workshop international hobby business 3.05

1,145 Taylor & Francis publisher of journals 2.90

1,115 Enterprise Inns tenanted pub owner 2.83

1,015 royalblue financial services software 2.57

United Kingdom investments (smaller companies)

UK specialist growth portfolio (£39m)
by sector 2003 2002

% %

Cyclical Services 46 52

Financials 16 23

Basic Industries 15 10

General Industrials 14 10

Information Technology 3 5

Cyclical Consumer

Goods 3 –

Non-Cyclical Services 3 –
c c

100 100
m m



17

The most successful area for new investment was in support

services and in particular two consulting engineers – W S Atkins

and WSP. Both companies had a very difficult 2002 caused by

internal failings and difficult market conditions. In both cases

the market over-reacted on the downside and with swift

management action to constrain costs and improving markets,

especially in the public sector, both companies’ share prices saw

considerable improvement in 2003. Against average cost these

two investments produced gains of 139% and 141% respectively. 

New investments in the year included Intermediate Capital, a

leading provider of mezzanine finance, Games Workshop, the

war-gaming hobby company, royalblue, a provider of software

and consultancy services to the securities industry, and Clinton

Cards, the leading UK retailer of cards and associated products.

To finance these purchases, the investment in the insurance

sector was significantly cut back. This was a major area of

disappointment in the portfolio with poor trading statements

from both Goshawk and Highway Insurance impacting their

share prices negatively during the year. Other disposals in the

year included Capital Radio, the UK radio operator, BTG, a

patent and licensing company, Xansa, an IT outsourcing

provider, and South Staffordshire, the water and insurance

support company.

Outlook

Investor confidence is appreciably higher than it was 12 months

ago. With an improving global economic environment and an

end to the technical selling pressure exerted by UK life and

pension funds in the first half of 2003, the UK market seems

likely to make reasonable progress in 2004. Smaller companies,

after dramatic outperformance in 2003, should show more

muted relative performance in 2004 but reasonable valuation,

ongoing bid activity and improving earnings growth mean

prospects are bright for further positive total returns.

Additionally there remains the scope for bottom-up investors to

add further value through focused stock selection.

United Kingdom investments (smaller companies)
% of UK

£’000 Equity investments by value smaller companies portfolio

990 Clinton Cards specialist retailer 2.51

780 Whitehead Mann recruitment 1.98

758 Highway Insurance insurance 1.92

645 Tribal support services 1.64

627 Marshalls construction 1.59

570 Regus office servicing 1.45

% of UK
£’000 Equity investments by value smaller companies portfolio

485 SVB insurance 1.23

459 Ricardo automotive consultant 1.16

185 I Soft healthcare software 0.47

132 Northgate Information Solutions software 0.33
cc cc

39,439 100.00
mm mm

“Keep adding,
keep walking,
keep advancing.”   St. Augustine

Witanwisdom
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Peter Kaye

North America,
portfolio review

Market Review

After three down years for the US equity market, 2003 marked

the reversal of this trend with the S&P 500 Index rising by 26.4%

over the year. The weaker dollar compressed this return to 13.7%

for sterling investors, still very respectable performance after

three bleak years. Within the market, medium and smaller

capitalisation companies continued to perform well at the

expense of larger companies. 

Economic data, having been mixed for most of the year, turned

much more positive from the summer onwards. Manufacturing,

in particular, has started to pick up as reflected in the significant

improvement in the ISM manufacturing survey. This indicator

reached the highest level recorded in 20 years in December.

Reported corporate earnings have shown an improvement in

growth and we are now seeing more companies exceeding

forecasts than in previous periods.

The combination of plentiful liquidity and an improved backdrop

for earnings growth has fuelled a rotation into lower quality cyclical

companies at the expense of the larger higher quality names. This

rotation has been the primary cause of the underperformance of the

US component of the Witan portfolio over the year. The portfolio

had been positioned in more consistent higher quality holdings at

the start of the year and we were too slow to rotate into more

economically leveraged companies.

Portfolio Activity

Most of the activity was targeted at increasing the cyclicality and

reducing the weighting in large-cap consistent-growth

companies. In addition we have weeded out companies which

appear cheap but where operating performance has started to

deteriorate. We have reinvested this money in companies where

% of North America 
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

11,185 Microsoft software & computer services 4.03

10,756 Pfizer pharmaceuticals 3.87

9,349 General Electric diversified industries 3.37

8,973 Citigroup banking 3.23

8,577 Exxon Mobil oil & gas 3.09

8,220 Intel      information technology hardware 2.96

7,604 Cisco Systems information technology hardware 2.74

6,200 Procter & Gamble personal care & household products 2.23

5,955 American International insurance 2.14

5,871 Coca-Cola       beverages 2.11

5,675 Hewlett Packard information technology hardware 2.04

5,534 Tyco International diversified industries 1.99

5,511 Amgen biotechnology 1.98

4,566 Abbott Labs pharmaceuticals 1.64

4,292 Freeport-McMoran mining 1.55

4,244 Goldman Sachs speciality & other finance 1.53

4,235 United Technologies aerospace & defence 1.53

4,102 Texas Instruments information technology hardware 1.48

4,054 Medtronic health 1.46

% of North America 
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

3,960 Eaton diversified industries 1.43

3,903 Wachovia banking 1.41

3,890 Northern Trust speciality & other finance 1.40

3,873 Viacom media & photography 1.39

3,527 Verizon Communications telecommunications 1.27

3,256 Sysco distributors 1.17

3,204 Carnival leisure 1.15

3,194 Bristol-Myers Squib pharmaceuticals 1.15

3,190 Nextel Communications telecommunications 1.15

3,180 Veritas Software software & computer services 1.15

3,166 Clear Channel Communications media & photography 1.14

3,148 Altria tobacco 1.13

3,102 EOG Resources oil & gas 1.12

3,098 Oracle software & computer services 1.12

3,018 Alcan metals 1.09

3,006 Boeing        aerospace & defence 1.08

2,992 US Bancorp banking 1.08

2,964 Omnicom media & photography 1.07

2,951 Zimmer health 1.06

North America investments

North America portfolio (£278m)
by sector 2003 2002

% %

Information Technology 26 16

Non-Cyclical Consumer Goods 22 20

Financials 15 23

Cyclical Services 15 17

General Industrials 10 9

Resources 6 8

Non-Cyclical Services 3 4

Basic Industries 3 2

Utilities – 1
c c

100 100
m m
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North America investments
% of North America 

£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

2,948 Marsh & McLennan insurance 1.06

2,934 Novellus Systems information technology hardware 1.06

2,897 Fedex transport 1.04

2,843 International Business Machines information technology hardware 1.02

2,838 Stryker health 1.02

2,833 Canadian National Railway transport 1.02

2,786 Staples Office Depot general retailers 1.00

2,746 Molex information technology hardware 0.99

2,713 Johnson & Johnson health 0.98

2,701 Interactive software & computer services 0.97

2,687 Coca-Cola Enterprises beverages 0.97

2,681 Du Pont  chemicals 0.97

2,680 Weyerhaeuser forestry & paper 0.97

2,680 Comcast media & photography 0.97

2,679 Wyeth pharmaceuticals 0.96

2,665 Barr Pharmaceuticals pharmaceuticals 0.96

2,642 Novell software & computer services 0.95

2,605 Walt Disney media & photography 0.94

2,585 SLM speciality & other finance 0.93

% of North America 
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

2,559 Dell information technology hardware 0.92

2,559 Lowe's general retailers 0.92

2,526 EMC Corporation software & computer services 0.91

2,520 Time Warner media & photography 0.91

2,512 Wal-Mart general retailers 0.90

2,494 Accenture software & computer services 0.90

2,485 Pepsico beverages 0.89

2,274 CDW Computer Centers distributors 0.82

2,225 CVS drug retailers 0.80

2,182 Charles Schwab speciality & other finance 0.79

2,152 Mattel toys 0.78

2,123 Nortel Networks   telecommunications equipment 0.76

2,122 Analog Devices information technology hardware 0.76

2,023 Apple Computer information technology hardware 0.73

1,941 Lehman Brothers speciality & other finance 0.70

1,827 Kohls general retailers 0.66

1,433 Bank of America banking 0.52

66 Travelers Property Casualty insurance 0.02
cc cc

277,691 100.00
mm mm

operational momentum is strong and market expectations remain

too low going forward.

For example, we have sold the pharmaceuticals company, Merck,

where several of its core products face strong competition from

new drugs launched recently and where there is significant patent

risk in the medium-term. We have also reduced our holdings in

both Wal-Mart and Johnson & Johnson where the perception in

the market of consistent above average earnings growth conflicts

with decelerating growth rates and poor near term operating

results. In place of these more defensive holdings we have

purchased positions in companies such as Nextel

Communications, a mobile communications provider, EMC

Corporation, the IT storage provider, United Technologies, the

industrials and aerospace company, Goldman Sachs, the

brokerage firm, and Omnicom, the advertising agency. In each

case current business momentum is strong and market perception

has been tainted by negative operating performance in 2002. 

In addition, we have sought companies in any sector where there

are strong secular drivers to growth and market expectations are

low enough for positive surprises to occur as earnings are

reported going forward. A good example is the orthopaedics

company, Zimmer, where demographics provide a powerful

driver and where the company has consistently exceeded market

expectations since its spin-off from Bristol-Myers Squibb. The

company’s recent acquisition of its Swiss competitor, Centerpulse,

provides a further source of strong earnings growth. 

Outlook

At the start of 2004 nearly all drivers to the US equity market

appear aligned for strong performance. Liquidity conditions are

very favourable, economic growth is very strong, inflation is low

and earnings growth is high and likely to surprise positively in

the short term. With this in mind we intend to retain the current

positioning of the portfolio which is tilted to benefit from the

improving economy. 

On a stock specific basis we intend to pursue the approach we

have strengthened recently. We are placing more emphasis on the

short term financial data reported quarterly by US companies,

particularly on the balance sheet and cash flow statement which

are often neglected by industry analysts. We are also becoming

more disciplined about selling holdings where fundamentals and

share price performance are deteriorating. We have further

enhanced our ability to generate new ideas through the use of

quantitative screens using factors such as earnings revisions. 

We are confident that these improvements to our process and 

the positioning of the portfolio will produce outperformance

during 2004.
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Continental Europe,
portfolio review

Market Review

The European markets as measured by our benchmark index rose

by 26.2% during the year in sterling terms. Breaking Europe

down into countries, Germany did best of the major markets,

rising 44%, many of its component stocks being geared toward

economic recovery. The Netherlands did worst, rising only 11%,

its equity market being more highly weighted in stocks not

sensitive to recovery.

This positive result seemed unlikely during the first quarter of the

year when the European markets fell sharply in response to fears

over the looming war with Iraq, continued worries over the lack

of economic growth and the threat of deflation. Forced selling by

insurance companies, whilst not as significant as in the UK,

accentuated the downward move. At their low point in March

European markets had fallen 16% below the levels they started

the year at.

The initial recovery from the lows in March was driven by the

prospect of rapid military victory combined with a realisation that

the markets had become attractively valued and technically

oversold. From around the end of April however, evidence of global

economic recovery began to accumulate. Optimism that this

recovery is sustainable and will lead to higher corporate earnings

has allowed the markets to trend better throughout the period.

As well as a better economic outlook, European markets have

benefited from renewed macro economic restructuring efforts by

eurozone governments. Measures have included cutting non-

wage costs for business, reforming pension systems and

challenging vested trade union interests. Though modest, these

changes are a step in the right direction.

Many companies have also restructured in order to lower costs in

the face of a weakening US dollar and growing Chinese

competition. Indeed, many companies in dire financial straits in

2002 have, through a combination of fresh equity and

restructuring, been revitalised. Examples have included ABB,

Ericsson, and Allianz.

A key reason for the global recovery has been the accommodative

stance of US monetary policy. The downside from a European

John Botham

% of Continental Europe 
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

5,640 Roche pharmaceuticals 4.61

5,301 Royal Dutch Petroleum oil & gas 4.33

5,293 Total oil & gas 4.32

4,241 Philips electronics 3.47

4,206 UBS banking 3.44

3,106 Société Générale banking 2.54

3,047 Zurich Financial Services insurance 2.49

3,045 Novartis pharmaceuticals 2.49

2,985 BNP Paribas banking 2.44

2,903 Lagardere media 2.37

2,872 Compagnie De Saint-Gobain building materials 2.35

2,835 BASF  chemicals 2.32

2,830 SAP software & computer services 2.31

2,724 Unicredito Italiano banking 2.23

% of Continental Europe 
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

2,697 Renault (Regie National) automobiles 2.20

2,655 Credit Suisse banking 2.17

2,628 Telefonica telecommunications 2.15

2,568 Bank Austria Creditanstalt banking 2.10

2,542 Deutsche Post business services 2.08

2,536 Altadis tobacco 2.07

2,513 Nokia mobile telecommunications 2.05

2,478 Porsche automobiles 2.03

2,391 Axa insurance 1.95

2,371 Danone consumer products 1.94

2,319 Siemens electrical equipment 1.89

2,116 Allianz insurance 1.73

2,084 ING banking 1.70

2,050 Deutsche Telekom telecommunications 1.67

Continental Europe investments

Continental Europe portfolio (£122m) 
by country 2003 2002

% %

France 26 19

Germany 23 13

Switzerland 16 17

Netherlands 15 23

Spain 5 7

Sweden 5 4

Italy 3 7

Finland 2 6

Denmark 2 3

Austria 2 –

Belgium 1 –

Portugal – 1
c c

100 100
m m
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% of Continental Europe 
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

1,934 Aegon                   insurance 1.58

1,795 Thomson Multimedia consumer products 1.47

1,666 STMicroelectronics technology 1.36

1,648 Bayer chemicals 1.35

1,646 E.On   electricity 1.35

1,637 Atlas Copco engineering 1.34

1,614 Unilever consumer products 1.32

1,596 France Telecom       telecommunications 1.30

1,596 Hypo Real Estate mortgage finance 1.30

1,594 Ver Ned Uitgevers publishing 1.30

1,530 Henkel Kgaa consumer products 1.25

1,510 Danske Bank     banking 1.23

1,496 Ericsson mobile telecommunications 1.22

1,487 Continental auto components 1.22

% of Continental Europe 
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

1,431 Interbrew          consumer products 1.17

1,413 AP Moller-Maersk transport 1.15

1,368 Telecom Italia          telecommunications 1.12

1,329 Hennes & Mauritz retail 1.09

1,324 Fresenius healthcare 1.08

1,294 Koninklijke telecommunications 1.06

1,291 Dassault Systemes software & computer services 1.05

1,206 The Swatch Group household products 0.99

1,192 Tele2 telecommunications 0.97

1,175 Bayerische Hypo-Vereinsbank banking 0.96

985 Deutsche Lufthansa transport 0.80

509 ACS Actividades construction 0.42

141 Axa Convertible Bonds 21/12/04 insurance 0.11
cc cc

122,383 100.00
mm mm

Continental Europe investments

perspective is that it has led to a progressively weaker US dollar

through the year, the dollar/euro rate declining by in excess of

20%. This will continue to blunt the rate of earnings recovery for

many European companies. Corporate Europe will need to

vigorously restructure to offset this negative impact.

After Enron and Worldcom in 2002, Europe had its own

accounting and fraud scandals in 2003 in the form of Ahold, the

Dutch retailer, and towards the end of the year Parmalat, the

Italian dairy company. Witan had no exposure to either stock.

Another key feature of the year in Europe has been the

outperformance of smaller companies over their larger brethren.

As we have few smaller companies in Witan’s European portfolio

this has not helped our performance.

Portfolio Activity

We retained a conservative portfolio positioning through the first

quarter of the year, fully weighted in sectors such as tobacco,

food manufacturing and pharmaceuticals. As confidence grew

during the second quarter we increased our exposure to more

cyclical and recovery-orientated stocks such as Philips, Renault

and ING. We reduced exposure to the oil and pharmaceutical

sectors in particular, selling our holdings in ENI, the Italian oil

company, and Aventis and Schering, the French and German

pharmaceutical companies. These shifts were correct, though,

with hindsight, a more aggressive move in this direction would

have been appropriate.

We have retained a pro-recovery slant to the portfolio,

participating in some restructuring situations including ABB,

Fiat, Ericsson and even Ahold, when the extent of its problems

were better understood. Some of these stocks were held for a

short period only while others such as Ericsson are more long

term in nature.

Of particular note have been German financial stocks. At the end

of last year we held only Deutsche Bank but during the year we

made significant investments in Allianz when it raised fresh

equity and HVB, a bank struggling to restructure and geared to

economic recovery. Of particular note is Hypo Real Estate, the

property financing spinoff from HVB, which has performed

strongly since its listing in October.

Outlook

Going into 2004 markets are in an optimistic mood. We share

this optimism to a certain extent, though we are aware of the

risks posed by a depreciating dollar and later in the year

potentially rising interest rates, and, if growth disappoints,

valuations will look stretched.

At present we intend to retain a bias toward stocks sensitive to

economic recovery, though as we progress through the year we

would expect to increase the proportion of stocks with a

domestic orientation and relatively predictable earnings streams.
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Michael Wood-Martin

Market Review

The past year has been rewarding for investors in Japanese

equities after a prolonged period of declines. Recovery in overseas

economies along with better news on the domestic front pushed

equities higher. The period was not without trepidation however,

as stocks plunged to twenty-year lows early in the year before

recovering strongly. Within the market smaller companies

performed better than large companies, a trend seen in other

markets, as monetary conditions remained easy around the

world. The strength in the yen against the US dollar provided a

headwind for many blue chip stocks which proved to be a drag

on the portfolio’s performance. The Topix Index rose by 23.4%

for the year in sterling terms.

Portfolio Activity

Within the portfolio the only outright sale was Takefuji, a

consumer finance company, following a scandal which has

brought about the resignation of the chairman and which has

created uncertainty over the company’s future. Yamanouchi

Pharmaceutical and Mitsui & Co., a trading company, were new

positions added, the former for its relatively attractive drug 

pipe-line and the latter for its exposure to a recovering domestic

economy. The sector bias of the portfolio remains towards

recovery. 

Outlook

Continued expansion in overseas economies, especially China,

accompanied by a broad-based profit recovery within Japan

should continue to provide a positive backdrop for the equity

market. Despite deflationary conditions, profits are continuing to

rise which reflects positively on corporate restructuring efforts.

Further yen strength could prove problematic although the

authorities are well aware of such a threat and will endeavour 

to cushion any such effect. While foreign investors have

supported the recent rally in Japanese equities, domestic

institutional investment will be important if the market’s rise 

is to be sustained.

Japan,
portfolio review

% of Japan
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

5,779 Mitsubishi Tokyo Financial banking 7.51

5,479 NTT Docomo telecommunications 7.12

5,087 Ito-Yokado general retailer 6.61

5,045 Toppan Printing media & photography 6.55

4,990 Asahi Kasei chemicals 6.48

4,761 Nippon Telegraph & Telephone telecommunications 6.19

4,439 Canon electrical 5.77

4,327 Daiwa Securities speciality & other finance 5.62

3,561 Tokyo Broadcasting media & photography 4.62

3,556 Mitsui & Co. wholesale trading 4.62

3,390 Kirin Brewery beverages 4.40

% of Japan
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

3,314 Pioneer electrical 4.31

3,307 Nippon Express transport 4.30

3,142 Yamanouchi Pharmaceutical pharmaceuticals 4.08

2,907 Kyocera electrical 3.78

2,902 Toyota Motor automobiles 3.77

2,901 Secom security services 3.76

2,880 Keyence electrical 3.74

2,607 Sony electrical 3.39

2,598 Toshiba electrical 3.38
cc cc

76,972 100.00
mm mm

Japan investments

Japan portfolio (£77m) 
by sector 2003 2002

% %

Cyclical Services 31 26

General Industrials 25 29

Financials 13 16

Non-Cyclical Services 13 13

Non-Cyclical

Consumer Goods 8 5

Basic Industries 6 6

Cyclical Consumer Goods 4 5
c c

100 100
m m
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William Pitman

Market Review

In line with global equity markets, stockmarkets in the Far East

began the year on a weak note in response to fears about the

outlook for the US economy and growing tension in the Middle

East. These fears were exacerbated in Asia by the spread of the

SARS virus, which in retrospect provided the catalyst for a final

cathartic sell-off. As these various concerns receded, regional

equity markets experienced a strong recovery, with the FTSE

Pacific ex-Japan Index gaining 24.8% over the year. The top

performing markets were Thailand and China. Currency

movements had a significant impact over the period given the US

dollar’s weakness against sterling (-11.2%) and the Australian

dollar’s relative strength (+20.9%).

Portfolio Activity

The portfolio began the period in a fairly defensive position due to

ongoing uncertainties. However in response to the final SARS

driven sell-off of Asian markets, a more proactive and aggressive

stance was taken both by increasing exposure to the region and

also by raising the cyclicality of the holdings. The weighting was

shifted in favour of Asia at the expense of Australia with new

positions being added in Hong Kong, Korea and Thailand. This

stance was maintained for the balance of the year.

Outlook

Given our expectation of a continued recovery in global growth,

the Far East economies remain well positioned going forward from

both a cyclical and a structural perspective. Regional markets are in

turn supported by favourable liquidity and valuation. As such we

anticipate a further strong performance from Asian markets into

2004. China will remain a key driver given the growing dominance

of that economy, although there are fears that the current growth

rate is unsustainable. In contrast Australia is likely to be a laggard

given the maturity of its economic cycle.

Far East,
portfolio review

“They must often
change, who would
be constant in happiness
or wisdom.”     Confucius

% of Far East
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

5,895 BHP Billiton mining 8.56

5,289 Samsung Electronics information technology hardware 7.68

5,087 Taiwan Semiconductor information technology hardware 7.39

4,744 Compal Electronics information technology hardware 6.89

4,202 James Hardie Industries construction & building materials 6.10

4,001 United Overseas Bank banking 5.81

3,993 LG Chem chemicals 5.80

3,941 China Mobile (HK) telecommunications 5.72

3,766 Kookmin Bank banking 5.47

3,708 Cathay Pacific Airways transport 5.38

3,326 Cheung Kong real estate 4.83

% of Far East
£’000 Equity investments by value portfolio

3,105 Woodside Petroleum oil & gas 4.51

2,950 Chinatrust Financial banking 4.28

2,817 HSBC banking 4.09

2,714 Siam Commercial Bank banking 3.94

2,616 Westpac Bank     banking 3.80

2,616 SK Telecom       telecommunications 3.80

2,400 Bangkok Bank banking 3.48

1,654 China Life Insurance insurance 2.40

52 Siam Select Growth Trust investment trust 0.07
cc cc

68,876 100.00
mm mm

Far East investments

Witanwisdom

Far East portfolio (£69m) 
by country 2003 2002

% %

Australia 23 44

South Korea 23 19

Taiwan 19 13

Hong Kong 14 6

China 8 5

Thailand 7 –

Singapore 6 7

Malaysia – 6
c c

100 100
m m
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Directors’ Report

The directors present the audited accounts of the Company and

their report for the year ended 31 December 2003.

Status

The Company is an investment company as defined in section 266

of the Companies Act 1985 and operates as an investment trust

in accordance with section 842 of the Income and Corporation

Taxes Act 1988. Inland Revenue approval of the Company’s

status as an investment trust has been received in respect of the

year ended 31 December 2002, although approval for that year

may be subject to review should there be any subsequent

enquiry under Corporation Tax Self Assessment. The Company

will continue to seek approval under section 842 of the Income

and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 each year. 

Investment in Investment Companies

Following the recent revision of the Listing Rules in respect of

investment companies, the Company has announced that it

is its stated investment policy to invest no more than 15% of

its gross assets in other UK listed investment companies. At

31 December 2003 the Company had three investments in other

investment companies, valued in total at £20.9 million

(equivalent to 1.5% of the Company’s gross assets).

PEPs and ISAs

The Company intends to continue as a fully qualifying

investment trust company under the Personal Equity Plan

regulations. It intends also to continue to qualify under the

Individual Savings Account regulations.

Substantial Shareholdings

As at 4 February 2004, the following had notified the Company of

interests in the Company’s ordinary share capital:

%

AXA Investment Managers UK Limited 10.05

Barclays PLC 3.84

Legal & General Investment Management Limited 3.19

The above percentages are calculated by applying the shareholdings 

as notified to the Company to the issued ordinary share capital as at 

4 February 2004.

Activities and Business Review

A review of the business is given in the Chairman’s Statement 

on pages 4 to 6 and in the portfolio reviews on pages 8 to 23.

Assets

At 31 December 2003 the total net assets were £1,232.9 million

(2002: £1,080.3 million). The net asset value per ordinary share

was 358.2p (2002: 307.6p).

Revenue

It is recommended that the net revenue on ordinary activities

after taxation for the year be treated as follows:

Distributed as dividends: £’000

Preference 83

Interim ordinary (paid) 12,832

Final ordinary (proposed) 15,802

Transferred to revenue reserve 2,645
cc

31,362
mm

Corporate Governance

A corporate governance statement is set out on pages 30 to 32.

Directors

The directors of the Company are shown on page 2.

All the directors held office throughout the year under review,

except Mr Horsburgh. Lord Faringdon also served as a director,

and as Chairman, until his retirement on 24 March 2003.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Mr Clarke, Mr Colvill

and Mr McVeigh retire by rotation in accordance with the Company’s

Articles of Association and, being eligible, offer themselves for 

re-election. Mr Henderson will also stand for re-election, having

served as a director for more than nine years. Mr J Horsburgh was

appointed a director with effect from 2 February 2004 and will stand

for election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

The directors have reviewed their independence in the context of

the Combined Code, as revised in July 2003, and by reference to the

AITC’s Code of Corporate Governance. Mr Clarke was for many

years a senior executive of Henderson Global Investors, retiring in

March 2003; therefore he is not considered to be independent. The

other directors are wholly independent of Henderson Global

Investors and are of the opinion that each of them is independent in

character and judgement and that there are no relationships or

circumstances that are likely to affect their judgement.

Mr Henderson was formerly a partner of Cazenove & Co., the firm

which for many years acted as the Company’s stockbroker. However,
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he did not have responsibility for or involvement with Cazenove’s

role with the Company, being for many years responsible for aspects

of Cazenove’s fund management division. Mr Henderson is a

member of the family from which Henderson Global Investors takes

its name but he has never been employed by Henderson Global

Investors and, since its acquisition by AMP Limited in 1998, has had

no interest in its shares. Both Mr Henderson and Mr Colvill have

served on the Board for more than nine years. As such they will

stand for election by the shareholders each year. The Board is firmly

of the view, however, that length of service does not of itself impair a

director’s ability to act independently; rather, their longer perspective

adds value to the deliberations of a well-balanced investment trust

company board. As such, the Board considers Mr Henderson and

Mr Colvill to be independent. Their roles and contributions will,

however, be reviewed rigorously each year.

The Board’s tenure and succession policy seeks to ensure that the

Board is well-balanced and refreshed regularly by the appointment of

new directors with the skills and experience necessary, in particular,

to replace those lost by directors’ retirements. Directors must be able

to demonstrate their commitment to the Company, including in

terms of time. The Board seeks to encompass relevant past and

current experience of various areas, the most important skill-sets

being investment management, finance, marketing, financial

services, risk management, custody and settlement, and investment

banking.

Mr McVeigh is a director of Citigroup European Investment Bank

which includes a firm of brokers through which the Company buys,

sells and underwrites investments. Mr Henderson was formerly a

senior executive at Cazenove and a partner in its predecessor firm. As

one of a number of institutional investors, the Company purchased

in 2001 a holding of shares in Cazenove Group plc (“Cazenove”)

(see note 11 (iv) on page 41). Subject to these exceptions, no director

was a party to, or had an interest in, any contract or arrangement

with the Company at any time during the year or to the date of this

report. With the exception of Mr Horsburgh, no director has a

service contract with the Company.

The number of formal meetings during the year of the Board

and its Committees, and the attendance of the individual

directors at those meetings, is shown in the table that follows.

Management

Audit Engagement

Number of meetings Board Committee Committee

10 2 2
m m m

Lord Faringdon† 2 *1 –

H M Henderson 9 *2 *1

C G Clarke 9 *2 *2

R W C Colvill 10 2 2

A W Jones 9 2 1

R H McGrath 9 1 2

C S McVeigh III 9 2 2

R A Bruce 10 2 2

†Two Board meetings were held prior to Lord Faringdon’s retirement.

*Not a member of the committee but in attendance by invitation.

All the directors attended the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Interests

The interests of the directors in the share capital of the

Company were as follows:

31 December 2003

Ordinary shares: Beneficial Non-Beneficial

R A Bruce 2,880 –

H M Henderson 522,732 216,032

C G Clarke 182,848 –

R W C Colvill 5,012 8,519

A W Jones 97,536 –

R H McGrath 27,688 181

C S McVeigh III 3,000 10,923
cc cc

841,696 235,655
mm mm

1 January 2003

Ordinary shares: Beneficial Non-Beneficial

R A Bruce – –

H M Henderson 522,732 216,032

C G Clarke 178,924 3,924

R W C Colvill 4,855 –

A W Jones 97,536 –

R H McGrath 27,688 108

C S McVeigh III 3,000 7,283
cc cc

834,735 227,347
mm mm

Mr McGrath’s non-beneficial holding increased by 15 shares on

26 January 2004 as a result of regular investment through the Jump

share plan. No other changes in the interests of the directors have been

notified since the year end. No director had an interest in the secured

bonds, debenture stock or preference shares of the Company. 

Directors’ Fees

A report on the directors’ remuneration is set out on pages 28 and 29.
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Directors’ Report
continued

Manager

The following paragraphs set out the key terms of the

management agreement between the Company and the Manager

as they stand at the date of this report and as they stood during

the year under review. The Board expects in the near future to

renegotiate the terms of the management agreement, including

in particular the fee arrangements and the termination clauses,

so that they provide for the movement of some of the assets

from the current Manager to other investment houses without

there being any element of double-charging.

Currently, and during the year under review, investment

management, UK custodial, accounting, administrative and

company secretarial services are provided to the Company by

Henderson Global Investors (Holdings) plc and its subsidiaries

(“Henderson”) and by BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited

(formerly Cogent Investment Operations Limited).

The management agreement between the Company and

Henderson provides for the payment of a composite

management fee. The management fee agreed for the year

ended 31 December 2002 was £4,000,000, this figure to be

increased in respect of subsequent years by the average

increase in investment management salaries in the annual

McLagan survey (subject to such increases being not more

than 6.5% per annum). During the year the Board agreed with

Henderson that the management fee for the year ended

31 December 2003 would not be increased by reference to the

McLagan survey and that it would remain at £4,000,000.

In addition, a performance fee is payable at the rate of £100,000

for each 0.1% by which the Company’s net asset value per share

outperforms the capital value of the Company’s benchmark over

the year, the performance fee being capped at £1,500,000. In the

event that the net asset value per share falls over the relevant

year, a 50% discount applies such that the cap is halved to

£750,000 and the performance fee is calculated as £50,000 for

each 0.1% of outperformance of the benchmark. The

benchmark comprises the FTSE All-Share Index and the FTSE

World (ex UK) Index in the proportion 60:40.

The management fee is paid quarterly in arrears and any

performance fee is payable after the publication of the annual

report for the relevant year. All fees are subject to VAT as

applicable. These arrangements, which were revised in 2000 to

apply with effect from 1 January 2001, were intended to be

maintained for three years. 

Under the terms of the management agreement the fee

arrangements are subject to review every three years.

Consequent to the decision of the Board to allocate some of the

Company’s assets to investment houses other than Henderson,

the directors envisage substantial changes to the structure of the

management and performance fee arrangements. The fee review

scheduled for completion by 31 December 2003 has therefore

been postponed. In the interim period, with effect from

1 January 2004, the management fee will be calculated monthly

in arrears at 0.3% per annum of the assets under management

as at the end of each calendar month. There will be no

performance fee in respect of the interim period.

The management agreement may be terminated by either party

but, if the Company were to terminate the agreement with

notice of less than one year, it could be required, dependent on

the circumstances, to pay Henderson compensation. In the

absence of special circumstances, the compensation payable on

immediate termination would be an amount equivalent to one

year’s management fees. If notice of up to one year were to be

given the compensation would be calculated on a sliding scale,

pro rata to the length of notice given. Compensation is not

payable if one year’s notice of termination is given. 

For part of 2003 the Company was invested in the Henderson

American Smaller Companies Fund (an open ended investment

company (OEIC) managed by Henderson). The management

charges borne within the OEIC were rebated to the Company and,

accordingly, the management fee of £4,000,000 was reduced by

£98,196. Therefore the management fee actually payable in

respect of the year ended 31 December 2003 was £3,901,804

(excluding VAT) (2002: £3,812,580). No performance fee is payable

in respect of the year ended 31 December 2003 (2002: £nil).

Pending the conclusion of the negotiations referred to above,

it is the opinion of the directors that the continuing

appointment of the Manager on the terms agreed is in the

interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole. The

main reasons for this opinion are the extensive investment

management resources of the Manager and its experience in

managing and administering investment trust companies.



27

The Manager uses certain services which are paid for, or provided

by, various brokers. In return it places business, which may

include transactions relating to the Company, with these brokers.

Share Buy-Backs

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Company to

purchase its own shares and to fund such purchases from its

accumulated realised capital profits. 

At the Annual General Meeting in March 2003 a special

resolution was passed giving the Company authority, until the

conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in 2004, to make

market purchases for cancellation of the Company’s own

ordinary shares up to a maximum of 52,320,809 shares (being

14.99% of the issued ordinary share capital as at 24 March 2003).

As at 31 December 2003 the Company had valid authority,

outstanding until the conclusion of the annual general meeting

in 2004, to make market purchases for cancellation of 46,800,809

shares. During the year ended 31 December 2003 the Company

purchased for cancellation a total of 6,820,000 of its own

ordinary shares, representing 1.95% of the ordinary shares in

issue at 31 December 2002. These purchases, which cost

£19,565,000 excluding stamp duty, were funded from the realised

capital reserves. A further 2,800,000 shares have been bought

back between the year end and the date of this report.

The Board considers that the Company should continue to have

authority to make market purchases of its own ordinary shares for

cancellation. Accordingly, a special resolution will be proposed

at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to authorise the

Company to make market purchases for cancellation of up to

14.99% of the ordinary shares in issue at the date of the Annual

General Meeting (equivalent to 51,073,640 ordinary shares if

there is no change in the issued ordinary share capital between

the date of this report and the Annual General Meeting). Under

the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority this is the

maximum percentage of its equity share capital that a company

may purchase through the market pursuant to such authority. 

The directors believe that buying back the Company’s own shares

in the market, at appropriate times and prices, is in the best

interests of shareholders generally. The Company will make

purchases, within guidelines set from time to time by the Board

and if or when market conditions are suitable, with the aim of

maximising the benefit to the remaining shareholders. The

directors will not use this authority unless to do so would result in

an increase in the net asset value per ordinary share. Shares will

not be bought at a price that is less than 25p (the nominal value)

or more than 5% above the average middle market price of the

shares over the preceding five business days. The directors intend

to seek a fresh authority at the Annual General Meeting in 2005.

Payment of Suppliers

It is the Company’s payment policy for the financial year to

31 December 2004 to obtain the best terms for all business. In

general, the Company agrees with its suppliers the terms on

which business will take place and it is the Company’s policy to

abide by such terms. At 31 December 2003 the Company had no

trade creditors (2002: none).

Auditors

On 1 August 2003 Deloitte & Touche, the Company’s auditors,

transferred their business to Deloitte & Touche LLP, a limited

liability partnership incorporated under the Limited Liability

Partnerships Act 2000. The Company’s consent has been given to

treating the appointment of Deloitte & Touche as extending to

Deloitte & Touche LLP with effect from 1 August 2003 under the

provisions of section 26(5) of the Companies Act 1989.

Resolutions to re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the

Company’s auditors, and to authorise the directors to determine

their remuneration, will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting.

Donations

No donations were made to political parties during the year.

Donations to charities totalling £21,141 were made during the

year from the Company’s marketing budget.

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary
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Introduction

This report is submitted in accordance with the Directors’

Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 in respect of the year

ended 31 December 2003. An ordinary resolution to approve the

report will be put to the Annual General Meeting on 29 March

2004. The Regulations require the auditors to report to the

Company’s members on certain parts of the Directors’

Remuneration Report and to state whether in their opinion those

parts of the report have been properly prepared in accordance

with the Companies Act 1985 (as amended by the Regulations).

The report has therefore been divided into separate sections for

audited and unaudited information.

UNAUDITED INFORMATION

Consideration by the Directors of Matters relating to

Directors’ Remuneration

The Board as a whole considered the non-executive directors’

remuneration and did not appoint a committee to consider

matters relating thereto. The Board has not been provided with

advice or services by any person in respect of its consideration of

the non-executive directors’ remuneration (although the directors

expect from time to time to review the fees paid to the boards of

directors of other investment trust companies). The appointment

during the year of the executive director is described below; his

remuneration will in future be the responsibility of the newly-

established remuneration committee (see page 2).

Statement of the Company’s Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

Non-executive directors

During the year the Board consisted entirely of non-executive

directors. New directors are appointed with the expectation that

they will serve for a period of three years. Directors’

appointments are reviewed formally every three years thereafter

by the Board as a whole. None of the directors has a contract of

service and a director may resign by notice in writing to the

Board at any time; there are no set notice periods. The

Company’s policy is for the directors to be remunerated in the

form of fees, payable quarterly in arrears, to the director

personally or to a third party specified by him. There are no long

term incentive schemes or pension arrangements and the fees are

not specifically related to the directors’ performance, either

individually or collectively.

The Company’s policy is that the fees payable to the directors

should reflect the time spent by the Board on the Company’s

affairs and the responsibilities borne by the directors and should

be sufficient to enable candidates of high calibre to be recruited.

The policy is for the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of

the Board’s key committees to be paid higher fees than the other

directors in recognition of their more onerous roles.

The Company’s Articles of Association limit the fees payable to

the directors to £200,000 per annum. In the year under review

the directors’ fees were paid at the following annual rates:

the Chairman £25,000; the Chairman of the Audit and Management

Engagement Committees £20,000; the other directors £17,500. The

policy is to review these rates from time to time, although such

review will not necessarily result in any change to the rates.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by the

Company in respect of all the directors.

Executive director

There were no executive directors during the year but on 16 January

2004 the Company announced the appointment of its first Chief

Executive Officer (“CEO”). Mr J Horsburgh became an employee of

the Company and an executive director with effect from 2 February

2004. The Board as a whole made the decision to appoint a CEO

but a Committee of the Board progressed and concluded the actual

appointment. This Committee comprised Mr Henderson, Mr Clarke,

Mr Colvill and Mr Jones; latterly Mr McGrath joined the

Committee in place of Mr Clarke and Mr Jones. The Committee was

advised by The Rose Partnership Limited. The Rose Partnership

Limited was appointed by the Committee; it did not provide the

Company with any other services during the year.

The Company’s policy on the remuneration of the CEO is to pay a

basic salary appropriate to the position, together with bonus

arrangements that link his remuneration to the performance

achieved in the different aspects of his role. The CEO’s service

agreement dated 16 January 2004 provides for a salary of £200,000

per annum, pension contributions equivalent to 10% of salary to a

pension scheme of his choosing and private health insurance cover.

The bonus arrangements provide, at the ultimate discretion of the

Company, a bonus of up to 50% of salary in respect of each

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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calendar year. Bonus payments will be made over three years,

subject normally to continued employment with the Company.

One quarter of bonus payments will be determined by the

performance of selected managers (normally excluding Henderson)

and a further quarter will be determined by performance in respect

of asset allocation. The payment of bonuses will be reduced or

deferred if the Company’s benchmark falls over the relevant year.

The appointment, after an initial probationary period of six

months, may be terminated by either party subject to not less than

twelve months’ written notice. The CEO will not be entitled to

fees for his service as a director.

Performance Graph

The FTSE All-Share Index is selected because it is the single broad

equity market index that most closely matches the Company’s

benchmark.

AUDITED INFORMATION

Amount of each Director’s emoluments

The fees payable in respect of each of the directors who served

during the year, and during 2002, were as follows:

2003 2002
£ £

Lord Faringdon (i) 5,764 25,000

H M Henderson (ii) 23,271 17,500

C G Clarke 17,500 17,500

R W C Colvill (iii) 20,000 19,203

A W Jones 17,500 17,500

R H McGrath 17,500 17,500

C S McVeigh III 17,500 17,500

R A Bruce (iv) 17,500 9,327

Lord Inchyra (v) – 3,944
ccc ccc

TOTAL 136,535 144,974
mmm mmm

Notes:

(i) Lord Faringdon retired from the Board on 24 March 2003, prior to which date he

had been Chairman.

(ii) Mr Henderson was appointed Chairman on 24 March 2003.

(iii) Mr Colvill was appointed Chairman of both the Audit Committee and the

Management Engagement Committee on 26 April 2002.

(iv) Mr Bruce was appointed to the Board on 19 June 2002.

(v) Lord Inchyra retired from the Board on 12 March 2002, prior to which date he had

been Chairman of both the Audit Committee and the Management Engagement

Committee.

No other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the

Company during the year to any of the current or former directors,

nor were any expenses claimed or paid to them (2002: £nil). 

During the year a retirement gift was made at a cost of £196,

excluding income tax and national insurance contributions to be

borne by the Company (2002: retirement dinner £2,158).

Mr Clarke’s fees were paid to Henderson Global Investors 

Limited until 31 March 2003. The amount so paid was £4,375

(2002: £17,500).

The directors’ emoluments stated above were those actually paid by

the Company. However, until 31 March 2003, Mr Clarke was

employed and paid by Henderson Global Investors (Holdings) plc

and its subsidiaries (“Henderson”) for the provision of services to

the Company. It is necessary to state the amount which he received

from Henderson and which related to the management of the

Company, even though the Company did not pay these

emoluments to him and was not involved in their determination.

The Company has been informed that the emoluments paid by

Henderson to Mr Clarke for services to the Company during the

year (including performance related bonus) were £7,000 (2002:

£31,000) as analysed below:

2003 2002
£ £

Salary and other benefits 5,000 24,000

Performance related bonus 2,000 7,000
ccc ccc

TOTAL 7,000 31,000
mmm mmm

By order of the Board

G S Rice

For and on behalf of 

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited, 

Secretary

4 February 2004

Witan share price total return, assuming the investment of £1,000 
on 31 December 1998 and the reinvestment of all dividends 
(excluding dealing expenses).

FTSE All-Share Index total return, assuming the notional 
investment of £1,000 into the Index on 31 December 1998 
and the reinvestment of all income (excluding dealing expenses).

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
£600

£800
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Background

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to disclose

how they have applied the principles and complied with the

provisions of the Combined Code (“the Code”).

Throughout the year under review the Code in force was the

Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the London

Stock Exchange in 1998. A revised Combined Code on Corporate

Governance was issued by the Financial Reporting Council in

July 2003 (the “revised Code”) which is effective for financial

years beginning on or after 1 November 2003. In addition, the

AITC Code of Corporate Governance was issued by the

Association of Investment Trust Companies in July 2003 (the

“AITC Code”). The Board has reviewed, and is in the course of

applying, the additional requirements of both documents but

this statement refers specifically to the Code in force during the

year under review.

Application of the Principles of the Code

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate

governance and the Board attaches importance to the matters set

out in the Code and applies its principles. However, as an

investment trust company, most of the Company’s day to day

responsibilities are delegated to third parties and, during the year

under review, the directors were all non-executive. Thus not all the

provisions of the Code were directly applicable to the Company.

Directors

The Board currently consists of eight directors, the majority of

whom are independent of the Company’s Manager (Henderson

Global Investors Limited). With the sole exception of the Chief

Executive Officer, the directors are all non-executive. Their

biographical details, set out on page 2, demonstrate a breadth of

investment, industrial, commercial and professional experience

with an international perspective.

The Board meets at least ten times a year and deals with the

important aspects of the Company’s affairs, including the 

setting of parameters for and the monitoring of investment

strategy, together with the review of investment performance.

The Board has set limits on the concentration of investments, on

the use of derivatives, on the lending of securities and on the

extent to which borrowings may be used. The application of

these and other restrictions, including those which govern the

Company’s tax status as an investment trust, are reviewed

regularly at meetings of the Board. The Manager takes decisions as

to the purchase and sale of individual investments. The Manager

also ensures that all directors receive, in a timely manner, all

relevant management, regulatory and financial information.

Representatives of the Manager attend each Board meeting,

enabling the directors to seek clarification on specific issues or to

probe further on matters of concern. Matters specifically reserved

for decision by the full Board have been defined and there is an

agreed procedure for directors, in the furtherance of their duties,

to take independent professional advice if necessary at the

Company’s expense. The directors have access to the advice and

services of the corporate company secretary, through its

appointed representative, who is responsible to the Board for

ensuring that Board procedures are followed.

When a director is appointed he or she is offered an induction

seminar which is held by the Manager. Directors are also

provided, on a regular basis, with key information on the

Company’s policies, regulatory and statutory requirements and

internal controls. Changes affecting directors’ responsibilities are

advised to the Board as they arise. 

Directors are appointed for specified terms, subject to re-election

and to the provisions of the Companies Act. In accordance with

the Company’s Articles of Association, new directors stand for

election at the first annual general meeting following their

appointment and every director stands for re-election at intervals

of not more than three years. 

The Chairman of the Company is a non-executive director. 

A senior non-executive director has not been identified as the

Board considers that all the directors have different qualities 

and areas of expertise on which they may lead when issues arise.

Accordingly, concerns can be conveyed to any one of them. 

Board Committees

The Board has established audit, management engagement,

remuneration and nominations committees with defined terms

of reference and duties. The membership of these committees is

set out on page 2.

Corporate Governance
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The Audit Committee is responsible for the review of the annual

report and the interim report, the nature and scope of the

external audit and the findings therefrom, and the terms of

appointment of the auditors, including their remuneration and

the provision of any non-audit services by them. It also meets

with representatives of the Manager and receives reports on 

the quality and effectiveness of the accounting records and

management information maintained on behalf of the Company.

The Management Engagement Committee is responsible for the

regular review of the terms of the management contract with 

the Manager.

The Nominations Committee is responsible for making

recommendations on the appointment of new directors. Each

director is invited to submit nominations and external advisers

may be used to identify potential candidates. The nominations

list is considered by the Board as a whole in accordance with its

agreed procedures.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the

remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer, including

consideration of the performance bonuses to be paid to him.

Directors’ Remuneration

Because the Company is an investment trust company and all its

directors during the year were non-executive, the Company was

not required to comply with the provisions of the Code in

respect of the remuneration of executive directors. The directors’

remuneration is detailed in the Director’s Remuneration Report

on pages 28 and 29.

Relations with Shareholders

The Manager has an annual programme of meetings with

institutional shareholders and matters raised at these meetings

are reported to the Board.

The Board considers that shareholders should be encouraged to

attend and participate in the Annual General Meeting. The

Annual General Meeting is chaired by the Chairman of the Board

and attended by the Chairmen of all the Board’s Committees.

Details of the proxy votes received in respect of each resolution

are made available to shareholders. Representatives of the

Manager make a presentation to the meeting. The Company has

adopted a nominee share code which is set out on page 52. 

Accountability and Audit

The statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the

accounts is set out on page 32. The report of the auditors is set

out on page 33. The Board has delegated contractually to external

agencies, including the Manager, the management of the

investment portfolio, the custodial services (which include the

safeguarding of the assets), the day to day accounting, company

secretarial and administration requirements and the registration

services. Each of these contracts was entered into after full and

proper consideration by the Board of the quality and cost of the

services offered, including the control systems in operation in 

so far as they relate to the affairs of the Company. The Board

receives and considers regular reports from the Manager and 

ad hoc reports and information are supplied to the Board as

required. In addition, the Chairman attends meetings of all the

chairmen of the investment trust companies managed by the

Manager; these meetings provide a forum to discuss industry

matters and the Chairman reports on them to the Board.

The Manager has established an internal control framework to

provide reasonable assurance on the effectiveness of the internal

controls operated on behalf of its clients. The effectiveness of the

internal controls is assessed by the Manager’s compliance and

risk department on an ongoing basis.

Internal Control

The Board has established an ongoing process for identifying,

evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the

Company. This process is subject to regular review by the Board

and accords with the Internal Control Guidance for Directors on

the Combined Code published in September 1999 (“the Turnbull

guidance”). The process was fully in place throughout 2003 and

up to the date of approval of this annual report. In addition the

Board has conducted its annual review of the effectiveness of the

Company’s system of internal control, covering all the controls,

including financial, operational and compliance controls and

risk management. This review took into account points raised

during the year in the Board’s regular appraisal of specific areas
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the Accounts

of risk. The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of

internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. However,

such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the

risks of failure to achieve the Company’s business objectives and

can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

The Board, assisted by the Manager, has reviewed the Company’s

business risks and these are analysed and recorded in a risk map.

The Board receives each quarter from the Manager a formal report

which details the steps taken to monitor the areas of risk,

including those that are not directly the responsibility of the

Manager, and which reports the details of any known internal

control failures. The Board receives each year from the Manager a

report on its internal controls (a ‘FRAG 21’ report) which includes

a report from the Manager’s auditors on the control policies and

procedures in operation. Steps will continue to be taken to embed

the system of internal control and risk management into the

operations and culture of the Company and its key suppliers.

The Company does not have an internal audit function; it

delegates to third parties most of its operations and, during 2003,

it did not directly employ any staff. The Board will continue to

monitor its system of internal control in order to provide

assurance that it operates as intended and the directors will review

from time to time whether a function equivalent to an internal

audit is needed.

Going Concern

The directors believe that it is appropriate to continue to adopt the

going concern basis in preparing the accounts, as the assets of the

Company consist mainly of securities that are readily realisable

and, accordingly, the Company has adequate financial resources to

continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Exercise of Voting Powers

The Board has approved a UK corporate governance voting

policy which, in its opinion, accords with current best practice

whilst maintaining a primary focus on financial returns. 

Statement of Compliance

The directors consider that the Company has complied

throughout the year ended 31 December 2003 with all the

relevant material provisions set out in Section 1 of the Code.

United Kingdom company law requires the directors to prepare

accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view

of the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the

financial year and of the net revenue of the Company for that

period. In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to:

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them

consistently;

� make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent;

� state whether applicable accounting standards have been

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and

explained in the accounts; and

� prepare the accounts on the going concern basis, unless it 

is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 

continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting

records are kept which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the Company and enable them to

ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies Act 1985.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the

Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Corporate Governance
continued
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We have audited the financial statements of Witan Investment

Trust plc for the year ended 31 December 2003 which comprise

the statement of total return, the balance sheet, the cash flow

statement and the related notes 1 to 24. These financial

statements have been prepared under the accounting policies 

set out therein. We have also audited the information in the part

of the directors’ remuneration report that is described as having

been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,

in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our

audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the

Company’s members those matters we are required to state to

them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the

fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume

responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the

Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this

report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

As described in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the

Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the

financial statements in accordance with applicable United

Kingdom law and accounting standards. They are also responsible

for the preparation of the other information contained in the

annual report including the directors’ remuneration report. Our

responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of

the directors’ remuneration report described as having been

audited in accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal and

regulatory requirements and auditing standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial

statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial

statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report

described as having been audited have been properly prepared in

accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report if, in our

opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial

statements, if the Company has not kept proper accounting

records, if we have not received all the information and

explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified

by law regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions with

the Company is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects

the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the

Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of

the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We

are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on

internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Company’s corporate governance

procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the directors’ report and the other information

contained in the annual report for the above year as described in

the contents section including the unaudited part of the

directors’ remuneration report and consider the implications for

our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or

material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of Audit Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom

auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An

audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant

to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and

the part of the directors’ remuneration report described as

having been audited. It also includes an assessment of the

significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in

the preparation of the financial statements and of whether the

accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the

Company, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the

information and explanations which we considered necessary in

order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable

assurance that the financial statements and the part of the directors’

remuneration report described as having been audited are free from

material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity

or error. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall

adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial

statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report

described as having been audited.

Opinion

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of

affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2003 and of its total

return for the year then ended; and 

• the financial statements and the part of the directors’

remuneration report described as having been audited have been

properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London

4 February 2004

Note to those who access this document by electronic means

Neither an audit nor a review provides assurance on the maintenance and integrity
of the website, including controls used to achieve this, and in particular whether
any changes may have occurred to the financial information since first published.
These matters are the responsibility of the directors but no control procedures can
provide absolute assurance in this area.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial information differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Witan Investment Trust plc 
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Statement of Total Return (incorporating the revenue account)

for the year ended 31 December 2003

Year ended 31 December 2003 Year ended 31 December 2002
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2 Net capital gains/(losses) from investments – 180,470 180,470 – (420,454) (420,454)

3 Income from fixed asset investments 36,068 – 36,068 36,034 – 36,034

4 Other interest receivable and
similar income 2,576 – 2,576 2,376 – 2,376

cc cc cc cc cc cc

Gross revenue and capital gains/(losses) 38,644 180,470 219,114 38,410 (420,454) (382,044)

5 Management fee (1,059) (3,175) (4,234) (1,018) (3,057) (4,075)

6 Other administrative expenses (2,540) – (2,540) (2,341) – (2,341)
cc cc cc cc cc cc

Net return/(loss) on ordinary activities
before interest payable and taxation 35,045 177,295 212,340 35,051 (423,511) (388,460)

7 Interest payable (2,532) (7,599) (10,131) (2,535) (7,606) (10,141)
cc cc cc cc cc cc

Net return/(loss) on ordinary activities
before taxation 32,513 169,696 202,209 32,516 (431,117) (398,601)

8 Taxation on net return on ordinary activities (1,151) – (1,151) (1,071) – (1,071)
cc cc cc cc cc cc

Net return/(loss) on ordinary activities
after taxation 31,362 169,696 201,058 31,445 (431,117) (399,672)

Dividends – preference shares (83) – (83) (83) – (83)
cc cc cc cc cc cc

Attributable to the ordinary shareholders 31,279 169,696 200,975 31,362 (431,117) (399,755)
cc cc cc cc cc cc

Dividends – ordinary shares
Interim payment of 3.70p (2002: 3.65p) (12,832) – (12,832) (12,822) – (12,822)

9 Final proposed of 4.60p (2002: 4.45p) (15,802) – (15,802) (15,590) – (15,590)
cc cc cc cc cc cc

(28,634) – (28,634) (28,412) – (28,412)
cc cc cc cc cc cc

17 Transfer to/(from) reserves 2,645 169,696 172,341 2,950 (431,117) (428,167)
mm mm mm mm mm mm

10 Return/(loss) per ordinary share 8.98p 48.70p 57.68p 8.92p (122.68)p (113.76)p
mm mm mm mm mm mm

The revenue columns of this statement represent the revenue accounts of the Company.

The notes on pages 37 to 47 form part of these accounts.
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Balance Sheet
at 31 December 2003

2003 2002
Notes £’000 £’000

11 Fixed asset investments
Listed in the United Kingdom (at market value) 776,212 690,176
Listed abroad (at market value) 545,922 454,346
Unquoted (at directors’ valuation) 10,573 26,067

cc cc

1,332,707 1,170,589
cc cc

Current assets
12 Debtors 6,802 3,306

Cash at bank and short term deposits 56,435 68,806
cc cc

63,237 72,112
13 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (18,750) (18,267)

cc cc

Net current assets 44,487 53,845
cc cc

Total assets less current liabilities 1,377,194 1,224,434

14 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (144,255) (144,176)
cc cc

Total net assets 1,232,939 1,080,258
mm mm

Capital and reserves
16 Called up share capital

Preference shares 2,555 2,555
Ordinary shares 85,880 87,585

17 Share premium 16,237 16,237
17 Other capital reserves

Redemption reserve 7,946 6,241
Capital reserve – realised 907,689 977,552
Capital reserve – unrealised 187,303 (32,596)

17 Revenue reserve 25,329 22,684
cc cc

18, 19 Shareholders’ funds (including non-equity interests of £2,555,000) 1,232,939 1,080,258
mm mm

20 Net asset value per ordinary share 358.2p 307.6p
mm mm

The accounts were approved by the directors on 4 February 2004 and were signed on their behalf by

H M Henderson

R W C Colvill

The notes on pages 37 to 47 form part of these accounts.
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Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2003

2003 2003 2002 2002
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

21 Net cash inflow from operating activities 29,852 30,180

Servicing of finance
Debenture and secured bond interest paid (10,035) (10,035)
Bank interest paid (26) (29)
Dividends paid on the preference shares (83) (83)

cc cc

Net cash outflow from servicing of finance (10,144) (10,147)

Taxation
UK tax recovered – 41
Overseas tax recovered 190 397

cc cc

Net tax recovered 190 438

Financial investment
Purchases of investments (393,968) (618,200)
Sales of investments 411,992 650,333
Cash inflow from forward exchange contracts – 2,269
Cash (outflow)/inflow from futures contracts (23) 1,184

cc cc

Net cash inflow from financial investment 18,001 35,586

Equity dividends paid (28,422) (28,120)

Management of liquid resources
Cash placed on deposit – (25,000)

cc cc

– (25,000)
cc cc

Net cash inflow before financing 9,477 2,937

Financing
Buy-backs of ordinary shares (19,660) (3,797)

cc cc

Net cash outflow from financing (19,660) (3,797)
cc cc

22 Decrease in cash (10,183) (860)
mm mm

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Decrease in cash as above (10,183) (860)
Cash outflow from management of liquid resources – 25,000

cc cc

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows (10,183) 24,140
Exchange movements (2,188) (1,265)
Increase in valuation of debt (79) (79)

cc cc

Movement in net debt in the year (12,450) 22,796
Net debt at 1 January (75,370) (98,166)

cc cc

22 Net debt at 31 December (87,820) (75,370)
mm mm

The notes on pages 37 to 47 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Accounting policies
(i) Basis of accounting

The accounts are prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting, modified to include the revaluation of fixed asset

investments, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards and with the Statement of Recommended Practice 

Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies (the “SORP”) dated January 2003. All of the Company’s operations are of

a continuing nature.

(ii) Valuation of fixed asset investments
UK listed investments are valued according to the prices issued by the London Stock Exchange, being the closing

mid-market prices for all investments other than FTSE 100 constituents and FTSE 100 reserve list constituents for which the

last trade prices are used. Overseas listed investments and investments which are quoted but are unlisted are valued at their

closing middle market prices as issued by various sources. Unquoted investments are valued by the directors based on a

combination of factors relating to the investee companies, such as third party transactions in the shares, earnings multiples

and net asset values.

(iii) Associated undertakings
Where the Company holds investments representing more than 20% of a class of equity share capital, they are not

accounted for as associated undertakings if, in the opinion of the directors, the Company does not exercise significant

influence over the financial or operating policies of the investee companies.

(iv) Capital gains and losses
Realised and unrealised capital gains and losses on investments, together with exchange differences arising on the

translation of foreign currency assets and liabilities, are dealt with in other reserves.

(v) Income
Dividends receivable from equity shares are taken to the revenue account on an ex-dividend basis and net of related tax

credit. Bank deposit interest is accounted for on an accruals basis.

(vi) Expenses and finance costs
All expenses and finance costs are accounted for on an accruals basis. In accordance with the Board’s expectation, over the

long term, that investment returns will be attributable 75% to capital gains and 25% to revenue, the Company charges to

capital 75% of the finance costs and management fees. All other expenses are charged to revenue. Expenses which are

incidental to the purchase or sale of a fixed asset investment are included in the cost or deducted from the proceeds of sale

of the investment.

Any performance fees payable are allocated wholly to capital, reflecting the fact that they are calculated by reference to

capital performance only. Details of the performance fee arrangements are given in the Directors’ Report.

(vii) Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided on all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date,

other than those differences regarded as permanent. Any liability to deferred tax is provided at the average rate of tax

expected to apply. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted to reflect the time value of money.

Because the Company intends each year to qualify as an investment trust under section 842 of the Income and

Corporation Taxes Act 1988, no provision is made for deferred taxation in respect of the capital gains that have been

realised, or are expected in the future to be realised, on the sale of fixed asset investments. 

(viii) Allocation of tax relief
The tax relief available to the Company on its management, administrative and finance costs is allocated between revenue

and capital according to the ‘marginal basis’ whereby revenue expenses are matched first against taxable income arising 

in the revenue account; the effect of this is that in the years ended 31 December 2003 and 2002 all the tax relief was allocated

to revenue. 

(ix) Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in overseas currencies during the year are translated into sterling at the appropriate daily exchange

rate. Assets and liabilities denominated in overseas currencies at the balance sheet date are translated into sterling at the

exchange rate ruling on that date. In the case of forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge fluctuating exchange rates

on foreign currency assets or liabilities, the difference between the value at the contracted forward rate and the forward rate

ruling at the balance sheet date is included as a debtor or provided for as a creditor and included within other reserves.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

(x) Financial instruments
Derivative instruments may be utilised by the Company. A derivative instrument is considered to be used for hedging

purposes when it alters the market risk profile of an existing underlying exposure of the Company. The Company has taken

advantage of the exemption under Financial Reporting Standard 13 and excluded short-term debtors and creditors from

disclosures under financial instruments where allowed (see note 15 on pages 42 to 44).

2003 2002
2 Net capital gains/(losses) from investments £’000 £’000

Realised losses based on historical cost (37,241) (81,776)

Adjustment for amounts recognised as net unrealised losses/(gains) in the previous year 56,369 (37,553)
cc cc

Realised gains/(losses) based on carrying value at the previous balance sheet date 19,128 (119,329)

Net movement in unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) 161,666 (299,617)
cc cc

180,794 (418,946)

Net movement on foreign exchange (324) (1,508)
cc cc

180,470 (420,454)
mm mm

2003 2002
3 Income from fixed asset investments £’000 £’000

Franked:

UK dividends from listed investments 26,099 26,126

Special dividends from listed investments 510 –

UK dividends from unquoted investments 147 379
cc cc

26,756 26,505
cc cc

Unfranked:

Overseas dividends from listed investments 9,030 9,420

UK interest from convertible stocks – 58

Overseas scrip dividends from listed investments 246 –

UK interest from unquoted investments 36 51
cc cc

9,312 9,529
cc cc

Total income from fixed asset investments 36,068 36,034
mm mm

2003 2002
4 Other interest receivable and similar income £’000 £’000

Deposit interest 2,171 1,732

Stock lending income 247 233

Underwriting commission 158 411
cc cc

2,576 2,376
mm mm

At 31 December 2003 the total value of securities on loan by the Company for stock lending purposes was £136,402,541

(2002: £32,890,784). The maximum aggregate value of securities on loan at any time during the year ended 31 December

2003 was £255,028,281 (2002: £107,604,528). Collateral, which is revalued on a daily basis at a level equivalent to at least

105% of the market value of the securities lent, is provided against all loans. Collateral in respect of UK securities is usually

in the form of Crest DBVs (Delivery by Values); the content of Crest DBVs is subject to a concentration limit of 10%.
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5 Management fee Year ended 31 December 2003 Year ended 31 December 2002
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Management fee 976 2,926 3,902 953 2,859 3,812

Irrecoverable VAT thereon 83 249 332 65 198 263
cc cc cc cc cc cc

1,059 3,175 4,234 1,018 3,057 4,075
mm mm mm mm mm mm

A summary of the terms of the management agreement is given on page 26 in the Directors’ Report.

2003 2002
6 Other administrative expenses (all charged to revenue) £’000 £’000

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services 31 30

Auditors’ remuneration for audit related services 1 2

Directors’ fees (see the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 28 and 29) 137 145

Other expenses payable to the management company* 116 131

Bank charges and overseas safe custody fees 185 229

Marketing expenses� 1,463 1,244

Other expenses 462 434

Irrecoverable VAT 145 126
cc cc

2,540 2,341
mm mm

*Other expenses payable to the management company relate to share plan marketing services.
�Marketing expenses include the recharge of salary costs of the marketing manager who is employed by Henderson to work on 

the Company’s account.

2003 2002
7 Interest payable £’000 £’000

On the secured bonds, debenture stock, overdrafts and loans repayable:

Within one year 17 27

In more than five years 10,114 10,114

Amount allocated to capital (7,599) (7,606)
cc cc

2,532 2,535
mm mm

2003 2002
8 Taxation on net return on ordinary activities £’000 £’000

(a) Analysis of the charge for the year
UK corporation tax at 30% (2002: 30%) 840 1,222

Double taxation relief (840) (1,222)

Foreign withholding taxes 1,483 1,702

Overseas taxation reclaimable (208) (227)

Tax credits attributable to French and Italian dividend income (124) (331)

Overprovision in prior years – (73)
cc cc

1,151 1,071
mm mm



Notes to the Accounts
continued

40

8 Taxation on net return on ordinary activities (continued)

(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK for a large company (30%). The

difference is explained below.

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Net profit on ordinary activities before taxation 32,513 32,516
cc cc

Corporation tax at 30% 9,754 9,755

Effects of:

Non-taxable UK dividends (8,027) (7,952)

Withholding tax written off 1,150 1,128

Double taxation relief (840) (1,222)

Deferred tax not provided for (102) (66)

Excess expenses not utilised 2,376 2,195

Capitalised expenses (3,232) (3,199)

Disallowable expenses 35 406

Tax credits attributable to French and Italian dividend income (net of tax relief) 37 99

Overprovision in prior years – (73)
cc cc

Current tax charge for the year 1,151 1,071
mm mm

The Company has not recognised deferred tax assets of £7,909,000 (2002: £5,471,000) arising as a result of unrelieved

management expenses and unrelieved business charges. These expenses will only be utilised if the Company has profits

chargeable to corporation tax in the future.

9 Dividends
The proposed final dividend of 4.60p per ordinary share (2002: 4.45p) has been calculated using the number of shares in

issue at 31 December 2003 being 343,518,086 (2002: 350,338,086).

10 Return/(loss) per ordinary share
The revenue return per ordinary share is based on the earnings attributable to the ordinary shares of £31,279,000 

(2002: £31,362,000) and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 25p each in issue during the year of

348,414,853 (2002: 351,412,865).

The capital return per ordinary share is based on the net capital gains for the year of £169,696,000 (2002: net capital losses

of £431,117,000) and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 25p each in issue, as stated above.

11 Fixed asset investments
(i) Changes in investments

Valuation Valuation Cost
31 December Net 31 December 31 December

2002 Purchases Sales appreciation 2003 2003
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 699,228 74,853 (106,792) 119,392 786,681 613,738
North America 260,822 140,405 (135,958) 12,526 277,795 273,455
Continental Europe 103,469 136,950 (146,513) 28,477 122,383 105,078
Japan 72,850 24,808 (27,676) 6,990 76,972 95,782
Far East 34,220 50,925 (29,678) 13,409 68,876 59,215

cc cc cc cc cc cc

1,170,589 427,941 (446,617) 180,794 1,332,707 1,147,268
mm mm mm mm mm mm
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11 Fixed asset investments (continued)

(ii) Substantial share interests
At 31 December 2003 the Company held 20% or more of any class of share of the following companies:

Name of company Class of shares % held

Henderson Strata Investments plc Ordinary 20.8

Lessar Brothers Limited Ordinary 25.7

Turnstile Investments Limited (in members’ voluntary liquidation) Ordinary 100.0

Turnstile Investments Limited (in members’ voluntary liquidation) Second preference 100.0

Turnstile Investments Limited (in members’ voluntary liquidation) Non voting first preference 100.0

All the above companies are registered and operate in England and Wales.

In addition to the above, the Company has interests of 3% or more of any class of capital in 2 (2002: 2) investee

companies. At 31 December 2003 none of these investments represented more than 1% of the fixed asset investments and

therefore are not considered significant in the context of these accounts. Where the Company holds investments

representing more than 20% of a class of equity share capital, they are not accounted for as associated undertakings if, in

the opinion of the directors, the Company does not exercise significant influence over the financial or operating policies of

the investee companies.

(iii) Unquoted investments
% of unquoted

£’000 Investments by value portfolio

3,975 Cazenove Group plc see note 11 (iv) below 37.60

3,140 Cazenove New Europe Access Fund investment fund 29.70

2,797 Wadworth and Company Limited brewing 26.45

557 Henderson Unquoted Growth Equities Fund investment fund 5.27

104 Thames River First Absolute Return Limited see note 11 (v) below 0.98
ccc ccc

10,573 100.00
mmm mmm

(iv) Cazenove Group plc
Cazenove Group plc (“Cazenove”) is a leading independent investment bank and is currently an unquoted company.

Cazenove was established by the partners of Cazenove & Co. to incorporate the business of that firm, to raise additional

capital and to seek a stock market quotation in due course.

(v) Thames River First Absolute Return Limited (“Thames River”)
The Company entered into a three year investment contract in 2000 with Thames River, a Cayman Islands investment

company. In accordance with the terms of the contract, the Company made a payment of US$30,000,000 (approximately

£20,000,000) to Thames River and has the right to receive a termination payment at the end of the contract related to the net

asset value of Thames River. At 31 December 2002 the investment had a valuation of £17,015,000 (cost: £20,090,000). Most of

the investment was realised in 2003 and net proceeds of £16,728,000 were received. The directors’ valuation of the Company’s

residual entitlement under the investment contract as at 31 December 2003, based on the value of Thames River’s net assets at

that date, was £104,000 (cost: £123,000). This sum is included in unquoted investments in the balance sheet.

The Company has no shares in, nor control over, Thames River but due to the nature of the investment contract this

company falls within the definition of a quasi-subsidiary under Financial Reporting Standard 5. Consolidated accounts

have not been prepared due to the immateriality of the effect of any changes required on consolidation.
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2003 2002
12 Debtors £’000 £’000

Sales for future settlement 799 82

Unrealised profit on forward hedge 1,864 –

Taxation recoverable 261 245

Prepayments and accrued income 3,392 2,862

Other debtors 486 117
cc cc

6,802 3,306
mm mm

2003 2002
13 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year £’000 £’000

Purchases for future settlement 132 –

Proposed final ordinary dividend 15,802 15,590

Preference dividends 38 38

Accruals 2,778 2,639
cc cc

18,750 18,267
mm mm

2003 2002
14 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year £’000 £’000

Financial instruments redeemable other than in instalments are as follows 

(both are redeemable after more than five years):

81⁄2 per cent. Debenture Stock 2016 46,000 46,000

6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025 98,255 98,176
cc cc

144,255 144,176
mm mm

On 15 December 2000 the Company issued £100,000,000 (nominal) 6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025, net of

discount and issue costs totalling approximately £2,000,000. The discount and the issue costs will be written back over the

life of the Secured Bonds. The nominal value of the Secured Bonds is redeemable on 15 December 2025.

The nominal value of the Debenture Stock is redeemable on 1 October 2016.

The Debenture Stock and the Secured Bonds are secured by floating charges over all the undertaking and assets of the

Company. The security of the charges applies pari passu to both issues.

15 Financial instruments
(i) Management of risk

The Company’s financial instruments comprise:

• equity shares that are held in accordance with the Company’s investment objective as set out on page 1;

• debenture stock, secured bonds, preference shares, term loans and bank overdrafts, the main purpose of which is to raise

finance for the Company’s operations; and

• cash and short-term debtors and creditors that arise directly from the Company’s operations.

Derivative transactions which the Company may enter into comprise forward exchange contracts (the purpose of which is to

manage currency risks arising from the Company’s investing activities) and quoted options on shares held within the

portfolio, or on indices appropriate to sections of the portfolio (the purpose of which is to provide protection against falls in

the capital values of the holdings). The Company may also write options on shares represented in the portfolio where such

options are priced attractively relative to the portfolio managers’ longer term expectations for the relevant share prices.
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15 Financial instruments (continued)

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are due to fluctuations in market prices, foreign exchange

rates and interest rates. The Board regularly reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below. These policies have remained constant throughout the year under review.

Market price risk

Market price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about the future prices of financial instruments used in the Company’s

operations. It represents the potential loss the Company might suffer through holding market positions in the face of price

movements and movements in exchange rates. It is the Board’s policy to hold an appropriate spread of investments in the

portfolio in order to reduce the risk arising from factors specific to a particular country or sector. The allocation of assets to

international markets and stock selection are other factors which act to reduce market price risk. The portfolio managers

actively monitor market prices throughout the year and report to the Board, which meets regularly in order to consider

investment strategy.

Foreign currency risk

The Company’s total return and net assets can be significantly affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates

because a portion of the Company’s assets and revenue are denominated in currencies other than sterling. The international

spread of investments acts to reduce this risk. Borrowings in foreign currencies are limited to levels appropriate to the asset

exposure to those currencies. 

Interest rate risk

The Company finances its operations through its debenture stock, secured bonds, preference shares and term loans as well

as bank overdrafts and any retained revenues arising from operations. The Company borrows, in sterling or in foreign

currencies, at both fixed and floating rates of interest. The Board imposes borrowing limits to ensure that gearing levels are

appropriate to market conditions and reviews these limits on a regular basis.

Liquidity risk

The Company’s assets comprise mainly readily realisable securities which can be sold to meet funding commitments if

necessary. The maturity of the Company’s existing borrowings is set out in paragraph (iii) on page 44. Short term flexibility

is achieved through the use of loan and overdraft facilities.

Credit risk

The Company places funds with authorised deposit takers from time to time and is therefore potentially at risk from the

failure of any such institution of which it is a creditor. The Company expects to place any deposits on a short term basis only.

The Company lends securities from its portfolio, within limits set by the Board. It receives collateral to cover the securities

lent, usually, in respect of UK securities, in the form of Crest DBVs. This collateral is subject to concentration limits, to a

margin and to regular revaluation.

(ii) Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets

The majority of the Company’s financial assets are equity shares and other investments which neither pay interest nor have a stated

maturity date.

Financial liabilities

The interest rate profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2003 was:

2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002
Fixed rate Weighted Period for which Fixed rate Weighted Period for which

financial average interest rate financial average interest rate
liabilities interest rate is fixed liabilities interest rate is fixed

£’000 % years £’000 % years

Sterling – preference shares 2,555 3.2 – 2,555 3.2 –

Sterling – debenture stock 46,000 8.5 12.75 46,000 8.5 13.75

Sterling – secured bonds 98,255 6.228 21.96 98,176 6.228 22.96
cc cc

146,810 146,731
mm mm
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15 Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities
All of the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2003 mature in more than five years.

The Company had no committed borrowing facilities at 31 December 2003 (2002: committed borrowing facilities of £15 million,

all undrawn).

(iv) Currency exposure
A portion of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are denominated in currencies other than sterling with the

effect that the net assets and total return can be significantly affected by currency movements.

Overseas Net monetary Total currency Overseas Net monetary Total currency
Currency investments assets exposure investments assets exposure

2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

US dollar 269,821 (49,678) 220,143 254,213 14,568 268,781

Euro 94,007 3,040 97,047 78,341 3,540 81,881

Yen 76,972 48 77,020 72,850 25 72,875

Other non-sterling 105,226 2,738 107,964 65,957 2,628 68,585
cc cc cc cc cc cc

Total 546,026 (43,852) 502,174 471,361 20,761 492,122
mm mm mm mm mm mm

Forward exchange contracts

During the year ended 31 December 2003 profits of £nil were realised relating to forward exchange contracts. There were no

forward exchange contracts taken out during the year ended 31 December 2002.

The following US dollar forward exchange contracts were outstanding at the balance sheet date:

Forward settlement Unrealised profit at
Date of Settlement Amount Contracted rate at 31 December 2003
contract date US dollar rate 31 December 2003 £’000
3 December 2003 6 January 2004 Sell 50,000,000 1.7244999 1.7895945 1,055
15 December 2003 15 January 2004 Sell 50,000,000 1.7380500 1.7883447 809

cc

1,864
mm

(v) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
All of the financial assets of the Company are held at fair value.

Set out below is a comparison by category of the book values and fair values of the Company’s financial liabilities at 

31 December 2003:
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

2003 2003 2002 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Preference shares 2,555 1,333 2,555 1,713

Debenture stock 46,000 55,832 46,000 56,408

Secured bonds 98,255 101,520 98,176 104,078

The fair values of the debenture stock, secured bonds and preference shares have been calculated by reference to prices available

from the markets on which the instruments are traded.

2003 2002
16 Called up share capital £’000 £’000

500,000 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 500 500

2,055,000 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 2,055 2,055

343,518,086 ordinary shares of 25p (2002: 350,338,086) 85,880 87,585
cc cc

Allotted, called up and fully paid 88,435 90,140

46,261,914 unissued ordinary shares of 25p (2002: 39,441,914) 11,565 9,860
cc cc

Authorised 100,000 100,000
mm mm

During the year 6,820,000 ordinary shares were bought back for cancellation at a cost of £19,660,000 (2002: 1,344,158 at a cost

of £3,797,000).
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Capital Capital 
Redemption reserve reserve Revenue

Share premium reserve – realised – unrealised reserve
17 Share premium and reserves £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 January 2003 16,237 6,241 977,552 (32,596) 22,684

Transfer on disposal of assets – – (56,369) 56,369 –

Net movement on listed securities – – 21,886 157,909 –

Net movement on unquoted securities – – (2,758) 3,757 –

Net movement on foreign exchange – – (2,188) 1,864 –

Expenses and interest payable charged to capital – – (10,774) – –

Buy-backs of ordinary shares – 1,705 (19,660) – –

Net revenue retained for the year – – – – 2,645
cc cc cc cc cc

At 31 December 2003 16,237 7,946 907,689 187,303 25,329
mm mm mm mm mm

18 Non-equity interests
Shareholders’ funds include £2,555,000 in respect of non-equity interests. These interests relate to the following shares:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

500,000 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 500 500

2,055,000 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 2,055 2,055
cc cc

2,555 2,555
mm mm

The 3.4 per cent. and 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares constitute a single class and confer the right, in priority to

any other class of shares:

(i) to receive a fixed cumulative preferential dividend at the respective rates (exclusive of tax credit thereon) of 3.4 per

cent. and 2.7 per cent. per annum, such dividend being payable half-yearly on 15 January and 15 July in each year, in

respect of the 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares, and on 1 February and 1 August in each year, in respect of the

2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares; and

(ii) to receive repayment of capital at par in a winding up of the Company (but do not confer any further right to

participate in profits or assets).

The preference shareholders are entitled to receive notices of general meetings of the Company but are not entitled to

attend or vote thereat (except on a resolution for the voluntary liquidation of the Company or for any alteration to the

objects of the Company as set out in its Memorandum of Association).

In the event of a poll at a general meeting of the Company, every member of the Company who is present in person or by

proxy and who is entitled to vote thereat, whether an ordinary shareholder or, in the circumstances outlined above, a

preference shareholder, has one vote for every £1 nominal value of shares registered in their name. Accordingly, on a poll

each ordinary shareholder has one vote for every four shares held.

2003 2002
19 Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds £’000 £’000

Net revenue on ordinary activities after taxation 31,362 31,445

Dividends (28,717) (28,495)
cc cc

2,645 2,950

Buy-backs of ordinary shares (19,660) (3,797)

Net capital losses for the year 169,696 (431,117)
cc cc

Net addition/(reduction) to shareholders’ funds 152,681 (431,964)

Shareholders’ funds at 1 January 1,080,258 1,512,222
cc cc

Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 1,232,939 1,080,258
mm mm
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20 Net asset value per ordinary share
The net asset value per ordinary share is based on the net assets attributable to the ordinary shares of £1,230,384,000

(2002: £1,077,703,000) and on the 343,518,086 ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2003 (2002: 350,338,086).

The movements during the year of the net assets attributable to the ordinary shares were as follows:

£’000

Total net assets at 1 January 2003 1,080,258

Less: preference shares at par (2,555)
cc

Net assets attributable to the ordinary shares at 1 January 2003 1,077,703

Total net return on ordinary activities after taxation 201,058

Dividends appropriated in the year:

Preference shares (83)

Ordinary shares (28,634)
cc

(28,717)

Buy-backs of ordinary shares (19,660)
cc

Net assets attributable to the ordinary shares at 31 December 2003 1,230,384

Add: preference shares at par 2,555
cc

Total net assets at 31 December 2003 1,232,939
mm

An alternative net asset value per ordinary share can be calculated by deducting from the total assets less current liabilities

of the Company the preference shares, the debenture stock and the secured bonds at their market (or fair) values rather

than at their par (or book) values. Details of the alternative values are set out in note 15 (v). The net asset value per

ordinary share at 31 December 2003 calculated on this basis was 354.7p (2002: 303.2p).

2003 2002
21 Reconciliation of operating revenue to net cash inflow from operating activities £’000 £’000

Net revenue before interest payable and taxation 35,045 35,051

Increase in accrued income (530) (253)

Increase in other debtors (27) (43)

Increase/(decrease) in other creditors 149 (137)

Expenses charged to capital (3,175) (3,057)

UK income tax deducted at source (4) (10)

Overseas withholding tax suffered (1,360) (1,371)

Scrip dividends included in investment income (246) –
cc cc

Net cash inflow from operating activities 29,852 30,180
mm mm

Other
31 December Cash Exchange non-cash 31 December

2002 flow movements movements 2003
22 Analysis of changes in net debt £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Net cash:

Cash at bank and short term deposits 68,806 (10,183) (2,188) – 56,435
Less: deposits treated as liquid resources (40,000) – – – (40,000)

cc cc cc cc cc

28,806 (10,183) (2,188) – 16,435
cc cc cc cc cc

Liquid resources:

Deposits included as cash 40,000 – – – 40,000
cc cc cc cc cc

Debt:

Debts falling due after more than five years (144,176) – – (79) (144,255)
cc cc cc cc cc

(144,176) – – (79) (144,255)

cc cc cc cc cc

Net debt (75,370) (10,183) (2,188) (79) (87,820)
mm mm mm mm mm

Notes to the Accounts
continued
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23 Capital commitments and contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2003 there were capital commitments in respect of securities not fully paid up of £5,510,000 (2002:

£6,225,000) and underwriting liabilities of £58,000 (2002: £nil).

24 Transactions with the Manager
Under an agreement dated 2 January 1996 the Company appointed wholly owned subsidiary companies of Henderson

Global Investors (Holdings) plc (“Henderson”) to provide investment management, accounting, secretarial, administrative

and custody services. Henderson has contracted with BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited (formerly Cogent Investment

Operations Limited) to provide accounting, administrative and custody services.

Details of the fee arrangements for these services are given on page 26 in the Directors’ Report. The total of the fees paid

or payable under this agreement to Henderson in respect of the year ended 31 December 2003 was £3,901,804 excluding

VAT (2002: £3,812,580), of which £972,348 was outstanding at 31 December 2003 (2002: £962,091).

In addition to the above services, during the year Henderson provided the Company with share plan marketing services

and provided the services of a member of its staff to serve as the Company’s marketing manager. The total fees payable

for these services for the year ended 31 December 2003 amounted to £176,362, excluding VAT, (2002: £191,918) of which

£54,578 was outstanding at 31 December 2003 (2002: £nil).

At 31 December 2003 the Company held investments in funds managed by Henderson as shown in the table below,

representing 0.9% of the Company’s investment portfolio (2002: 1.6%). Dividends received during the year from these

investments amounted to £nil (2002: £nil).

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Henderson American Smaller Companies Fund – 10,381

Henderson Strata Investments plc 11,934 8,425
cc cc

11,934 18,806
mm mm

Note to those who access this document by electronic means

The annual report for the year ended 31 December 2003 has been approved by the Board of Witan Investment Trust plc and

circulated to the Company’s shareholders in hard copy format. It is also made available in electronic format for the convenience of

readers. However, the Board cannot accept responsibility for guaranteeing the integrity of the document in electronic format.

Printed copies are available from the Company’s Registered Office in London.

Readers should note that legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements

differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Shareholder Analysis
2003 2002

% %

Private individuals 64 64

Insurance companies 19 19

Pension funds 12 13

Collective investment funds 2 2

Other 3 2

TOTAL 100 100

Source: Henderson Global Investors Limited
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Marketing Review

Witan maintained its commitment to marketing in 2003. The Trust’s strategy

was built around two key objectives, namely to increase demand for trust

shares through sales of product plans and to enhance Witan as an investment

brand. During the year it proved difficult to show progress against the former

objective. The environment was not propitious to achieving the volume of new

investment through products as had been enjoyed in previous years. Although

positive performance has made a welcome return, the confidence of the private

investor has taken time to mirror this improvement. However, there are clear

indications drawn from the response to marketing activity that this situation is

changing for the better. Witan’s products themselves enjoyed a mixed year. On

the one hand, poor press and the abolition of the tax credit attached to ISAs

seems to have undermined the attractiveness of this product to the consumer.

On the other hand, Jump the Savings Plan for Children proved resilient within

an increasingly competitive sub-set of the investment world. Indeed investment

volume across the range of Witan plans showed signs of picking up during the

final quarter of the year. This bodes well for 2004.

Witan’s marketing activities were more successful in pursuit of their second

objective. By maintaining a strong presence during a difficult year and by

employing an innovative approach, the Trust continued to enhance its brand

profile. A level of advertising was maintained with an eye on circumstances

and value for money. Witan’s topical cartoons won further friends through

their exposure in a variety of popular and cerebral magazines. The

sponsorship of Chemmy Alcott, Britain’s brightest skiing hope, proved a

strong association as her career progressed at a pace. Witan’s continued

support of the Royal Horticultural Society bore fruit once more during 2003. A

tangible expression of the strength of Witan’s brand profile manifested itself upon

the announcement in October that the Trust proposed to appoint a Chief

Executive Officer. The subsequent interest surrounding this news was

significant with every national newspaper running the story.

Marketing Strategy 2004 

Whilst 2003 proved to be a year of consolidation and concentrated on doing

basic things right in marketing terms, the coming year should prove more

exciting and rewarding. The Trust’s decision to adopt an ‘open architecture’

approach using managers alongside Henderson creates an even stronger

investment proposition for Witan. It sets the Trust aside from its competitors

and offers a real opportunity for improved returns to shareholders. This

multi-manager approach is an exciting one which should attract interest from

a range of potential investors both private and professional.

The Trust’s marketing programme will develop this proposition and

communicate it to the relevant target markets. This should impact positively

on both the volume of new investment through product plans and Witan’s

brand profile.

Additionally, Witan’s marketing activity continues to cover the following areas:

� Advertising the share price and net asset value in national papers and

journals

� Publishing the net asset value daily

� Facilitating the involvement of nominee shareholders

� Membership of the AITC

� Support of AITC marketing initiatives

*Source: Micropal net income reinvested 18 years to 31/12/03 Building Society Index UK Savings 2,500. £25 a month invested over 5 years £1,286 compared to building society
return of £1,527. † Source: as at 31/12/03. Henderson Global Investors is the name under which Henderson Global Investors Limited, Henderson Investment Funds Limited, 
Henderson Fund Management plc and Henderson Administration Limited (all authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority) provide investment products and services. 
We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service. 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA.

If you’d invested £25 a month with us for the last 18 years, your child would now have 
£10,865 compared to the building society return of £7,165*. Your investment is based on Witan, the
long-established investment trust, whose managers look after around £1.3 billion for over 55,000
investors†. Call now for an information pack, because you know a good deal when you see one.

A terrific deal for parents, 
grandparents and godparents.

I’ll give you burps.

I’ll give you used nappies.

I’ll give you sleepless nights.

I’ll give you chickenpox.

I’ll give you dirty laundry.

I’ll give you heartache.

And in return you can invest 

all your spare cash in this clever

account for me, so when 

I’m 18 I’ll have enough to 

buy a fast car and scare 

the life out of you.

The savings fund for children 
0800 082 81 80  www.jumpsavings.com

Please remember that past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance. The
value of an investment and the income from it can fall as well as rise as a result of market and
currency fluctuations and you may not get back the amount originally invested. Banks and
building society accounts offer greater security to your capital.

Ref XXXXX

Henderson Global Investors is the name under which Henderson Global Investors Limited, Henderson Investment Funds Limited, Henderson Fund Management plc and Henderson Administration

Limited (all regulated by the FSA) provide investment products and services. We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to improve customer service. 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA.

0800 082 81 80   www.witan.com quoting ref. CONGESTION

Witan...

wisdom
What an Old Romantic the Mayor of London is!

If you need the extra cash to pay ye new-fangled (ha!)
London congestion charges, maybe you should invest with us.

James Budden
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The programme for 2003 includes key performance indicators

approved by the Board as measurement of the progress of

Witan’s marketing strategy. Whilst the application of the

marketing mix will be creative and innovative, emphasis will

be placed on ensuring cost effective response across all

activities. The marketing budget is fixed annually and

expenditure is kept under close review. The budget for 2004 is

expected to be similar to that for 2003. 

Marketing Rationale

When the environment has proved difficult for attracting

investment, it is worth reiterating the reasons for maintaining

marketing levels.

It is the cumulative effect of the marketing process that adds

value for shareholders’ investments. Such activity stimulates

demand for Witan shares. This in turn guarantees a level of

liquidity which boosts the share price and allows shareholders

to purchase and sell shares at a price reflecting the performance

and rating of the Trust. The presence of liquidity for

investment trust shares is increasingly important in a fickle

marketplace where demand can drop, discounts slip and price

spreads widen. 

Witanwisdom

There are a variety of ways to invest in Witan. Naturally,

Witan’s shares can be traded easily on the stock market.

However, bearing in mind the benefits of income reinvestment,

regular savings and tax free wrappers, one of Witan’s

investment plans may be the answer.

� Witan Share Plan is a straightforward savings scheme

with minimum lump sum investment from £500 and

regular savings from £50 per month.

� Witan ISA enables investors to save tax free up to a 

limit of £7,000 per annum. The minimum lump sum

investment is £2,000 with regular savings from 

£50 per month.

� Witan Transfer PEP allows investors to transfer all 

or any number of their existing PEP holdings into Witan. 

The transfer is free (except for 0.5% stamp duty) and

investments retain their tax free status during and 

after transfer.

� Witan Simple Contribution Pension provides the

opportunity to claim up to £792 in tax benefit from the

Inland Revenue. It is a stakeholder type pension which can

be opened on behalf of another person, including 

non-earners.

� Jump gives parents, grandparents or other adults the

chance to save effectively for children over the long term.

Minimum lump sum investment is set at £100 and regular

contributions can be made from as little as £25 a month or

quarter.

Call free on 0800 832 832 for product information 

and guidance.

Visit www.witan.com or www.jumpsavings.com for all the

latest news and views and the opportunity to access plan

application forms.

Please remember that the value of an investment and the

income from it can fall as well as rise as a result of market and

currency fluctuations and you may not get back the amount

originally invested.

Tax assumptions may change if the law changes and the value

of tax relief will depend upon your individual circumstances. 

Henderson Global Investors is the name under which Henderson

Global Investors Limited, Henderson Investment Funds Limited,

Henderson Fund Management plc, Henderson Investment

Management Limited and Henderson Administration Limited

(all authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority)

provide investment products and services. 

4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA. 

Telephone 020 7818 1818.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

(c) the maximum price which may be paid for an Ordinary

Share is an amount equal to 105% of the average middle

market quotations for an Ordinary Share taken from the

London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five

business days immediately preceding the day on which the

Ordinary Share is purchased, or such other amount as may

be specified by the UK Listing Authority from time to time;

(d) the authority hereby conferred will expire at the

conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company

in 2005 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 18 months from the

passing of this resolution, unless such authority is renewed

prior to such time; and

(e) the Company may make a contract to purchase Ordinary

Shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the

expiry of such authority which will or may be executed

wholly or partly after the expiration of such authority and

may make a purchase of Ordinary Shares pursuant to any

such contract.

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

4 February 2004

Registered Office

4 Broadgate

London EC2M 2DA

Telephone: 020 7638 5757

Registered as an investment company in England and Wales

No. 101625

Notice is hereby given that the ninety-sixth Annual General

Meeting of Witan Investment Trust plc will be held at The

British Museum, Great Russell Street, London WC1B 3DG on

Monday 29 March 2004 at 6.45 pm for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business 

1 To receive the directors’ report and the audited accounts for

the year ended 31 December 2003.

2 To approve the directors’ remuneration report for the year

ended 31 December 2003.

3 To declare a final dividend.

4 To re-elect Mr C G Clarke as a director of the Company.

5 To re-elect Mr R W C Colvill as a director of the Company.

6 To re-elect Mr C S McVeigh III as a director of the Company.

7 To re-elect Mr H M Henderson as a director of the Company.

8 To elect Mr J Horsburgh as a director of the Company.

9 To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors to the

Company.

10 To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of

the auditors.

Special Business 

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as

a special resolution:

11 THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and

unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 166

of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”) to make market

purchases (within the meaning of section 163 of the Act) of

ordinary shares of 25p each in the capital of the Company

(“Ordinary Shares”), provided that:

(a) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby

authorised to be purchased shall be 51,073,640

(representing approximately 14.99% of the Ordinary Shares

in issue at 4 February 2004, the date of this Notice of

Annual General Meeting);

(b) the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which may

be paid for an Ordinary Share is 25p;
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Notes

1 Only those ordinary shareholders registered in the register of members of the Company at 6.45 pm on 27 March 2004 shall

be entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (“the meeting”) in respect of the number of shares registered

in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the relevant register of securities after 6.45 pm on 27 March 2004 will be

disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

2 An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a

poll, to vote on his or her behalf. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Every ordinary shareholder who is present in person at a general meeting of the Company, and every person (not being

himself or herself a member entitled to vote) who is present as proxy for a member entitled to vote, shall have one vote on

a show of hands. On a poll, every ordinary shareholder who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every

£1 nominal value of shares held by him or her. Accordingly, on a poll each ordinary shareholder has one vote for every

four shares held.

3 A form of proxy is enclosed. To be valid the form of proxy must be completed and deposited at the office of the Company’s

Registrar not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting. The return of the form of proxy duly

completed will not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting.

4 This notice is sent for information only to holders of the preference shares and the debenture stock who are not entitled to

attend or vote at the meeting.

5 The register of directors’ interests, kept by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985,

and the Chief Executive Officer’s service agreement will be available for inspection at the meeting.

6 By attending the meeting, members and their proxies and representatives are understood by the Company to have

confirmed their agreement to receive any communications (including communications relating to the Company’s securities)

made at the meeting.

Annual General Meeting Venue

Location of the British Museum

The Annual General Meeting will be held in the BP Lecture Theatre

at the British Museum on Monday 29 March 2004 at 6.45 pm. The

BP Lecture Theatre is part of the Clore Education Centre which is

located beneath the Reading Room. Shareholders arriving after the

British Museum closes to the public at 6.00 pm are asked to enter

through the main entrance in Great Russell Street from where

they will be guided to the registration desks.
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Shareholder Information

Registrar

Computershare Investor 

Services PLC

PO Box 82

The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

Telephone: 0870 702 0010

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Stonecutter Court

1 Stonecutter Street

London EC4A 4TR

Solicitors

Herbert Smith

Exchange House

Primrose Street

London EC2A 2HS

Stockbroker

Cazenove 

20 Moorgate

London EC2R 6DA

Points of Contact

If you have any questions or need more information

concerning Witan or Henderson Global Investors, you may

contact us in the following ways:

Freephone:

Henderson Investor Services on 0800 832 832

Website:

www.witan.com

Post:

For Share Plan/Jump queries:

The Share Plan Administrators

Lloyds TSB Registrars Scotland

PO Box 28448

FREEPOST (KE 5906)

Edinburgh

EH4 1ZQ

For PEP/ISA queries:

Henderson Investment Management Limited

Block C

Western House

Lynch Wood Business Park

Peterborough

PE2 6BP

Points of Reference

You can follow the progress of your savings through the

newspapers. Witan’s share price appears daily in the national

press stock exchange listings under ‘Investment Trusts’ or

‘Investment Companies’.

The London Stock Exchange Daily Official List (SEDOL) code is

0974406.

If you invest through the Witan Share Plan, ISA or PEPs you

will be sent a valuation of your Plan every April and October,

together with a newsletter containing a comprehensive market

review and general articles of interest.

Every February you will receive the annual report for Witan,

together with an invitation to attend the Company’s Annual

General Meeting. An interim report is despatched every

September.

For details on the ways to invest and save in Witan, please 

see Witanwisdom on page 49 of this document.

Nominee Share Code

Where notification has been received in advance, Witan 

will provide the operators of nominee accounts with copies of

shareholder communications for distribution to their

customers. Nominee investors may attend general meetings

and speak at them when invited to do so by the Chairman.

Capital Gains Tax

The calculation of the tax on chargeable gains will depend on

your personal circumstances. If you are in any doubt about

your personal tax position, you are recommended to contact

your professional adviser.

Disability Act

Copies of this annual report and other documents 

issued by Witan Investment Trust plc are available from the

Company Secretary. If needed, copies can be made available in

a variety of formats, including Braille, audio tape or larger type

as appropriate.

You can contact our Registrar, Computershare Investor 

Services PLC, which has installed telephones to allow speech

and hearing impaired people who have their own telephone to

contact them directly, without the need for an intermediate

operator. Specially trained operators are available during

normal business hours to answer queries via this service.

Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’ operator

(provided by The Royal National Institute for Deaf People), 

you should dial 18001 followed by the number you wish

to dial.

For investors who hold shares through the Witan Share Plan,

PEP or ISA a textphone telephone service is available on

020 7850 5406. This service is available during normal

business hours.



Chemmy Alcott in action at Cortina d’Ampezzo. In January 2004 Miss Alcott announced herself at the elite level of alpine skiing when

she finished ninth in the World Cup downhill at the Italian venue. This was the best result by a British woman for more than 30 years.

Witan is her principal sponsor up to and including the Olympic Games in Turin in 2006.

Photograph: Reuters/Stefano Rellandini
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